CRI(2014)37

ECRI REPORT ON SLOVAKIA

(fifth monitoring cycle)

Adopted on 19 June 2014

Published on 16 September 2014



ECRI Secretariat
Directorate General II - Democracy
Council of Europe
F-67075 STRASBOURG Cedex

Tel.: + 33 (0) 3 90 21 46 62 Fax: + 33 (0) 3 88 41 39 87

E-mail: ecri@coe.int

www.coe.int/ecri

ECRI REPORT ON SLOVAKIA (fifth monitoring cycle)

Adopted on 19 June 2014

Published on 16 September 2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOR	EWOF	RD	7
SUM	MARY	ſ	9
FIND	INGS	AND RECOMMENDATIONS	11
		COMMON TOPICS	
١.	1.	LEGISLATION AGAINST RACISM AND RACIAL DISCRIMINATION	
	١.	PROTOCOL NO. 12 TO THE EUROPEAN CONVENTION ON HUMAN RIGHTS	
	-	CRIMINAL LAW	
	-	CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE LAW	
	_	INDEPENDENT AUTHORITIES	
	_	THE PUBLIC DEFENDER OF RIGHTS (OMBUDSMAN)	
	_	SLOVAK NATIONAL CENTRE FOR HUMAN RIGHTS	
	2.	HATE SPEECH	
	_	LEGISLATION	
	_	DATA	
	_	RACIST POLITICAL DISCOURSE	
	_	EXTREMIST GROUPS	
	_	RACISM ON THE INTERNET	
	_	RACISM IN THE MEDIA	
	_	SPORT	
	-	HATE SPEECH TARGETING SEXUAL ORIENTATION / GENDER IDENTITY	. 21
	3.	RACIST AND HOMO/TRANSPHOBIC VIOLENCE	. 22
	-	Data	. 22
	-	AUTHORITIES' RESPONSE	. 22
	4.	INTEGRATION POLICIES	. 24
	-	ROMA INTEGRATION POLICIES	
	-	Policies' results	
	-	HUNGARIAN MINORITY	
	-	REFUGEES AND ASYLUM SEEKERS	
	-	OTHER NON-NATIONALS	. 31
II.		TOPICS SPECIFIC TO SLOVAKIA	. 32
	1.	INTERIM FOLLOW-UP RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE FOURTH CYCLE	
	-	- FUNCTIONING OF THE SLOVAK NATIONAL CENTRE FOR HUMAN RIGHTS	
	-	CAPACITY OF THE PLENIPOTENTIARY OF THE GOVERNMENT OF THE SLOVAK	
		REPUBLIC FOR ROMA COMMUNITIES	. 33
	-	SEGREGATION OF ROMA CHILDREN IN EDUCATION	. 34
	2.	POLICIES TO COMBAT DISCRIMINATION AND INTOLERANCE AGAINST	
		LGBT PERSONS	35
	-	Data	
	-	LEGISLATIVE ISSUES	
	-	Asylum	
	-	INDEPENDENT AUTHORITIES	
	-	ACCESS TO EMPLOYMENT AND HEALTH	
	-	EDUCATION AND AWARENESS RAISING	. 37
INTE	RIM F	OLLOW-UP RECOMMENDATIONS	. 39
LIST	OF R	ECOMMENDATIONS	. 41
BIBL	.IOGR	APHY	45
APP	ENDIX	(: GOVERNMENT'S VIEWPOINT	. 49

FOREWORD

The European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI), established by the Council of Europe, is an independent human rights monitoring body specialised in questions relating to racism and intolerance. It is composed of independent and impartial members appointed on the basis of their moral authority and recognised expertise in dealing with racism, xenophobia, anti-Semitism and intolerance.

In the framework of its statutory activities, ECRI conducts country-by-country monitoring work, which analyses the situation in each of the member States regarding racism and intolerance and draws up suggestions and proposals for dealing with the problems identified.

ECRI's country-by-country monitoring deals with all member States of the Council of Europe on an equal footing. The work takes place in 5-year cycles, covering 9-10 countries per year. The reports of the first round were completed at the end of 1998, those of the second round at the end of 2002 and those of the third round at the end of 2007, and those of the fourth round will be completed at the beginning of 2014. Work on the fifth round reports started in November 2012.

The working methods for the preparation of the reports involve documentary analyses, a visit to the country concerned, and then a confidential dialogue with the national authorities.

ECRI's reports are not the result of inquiries or testimonial evidence. They are analyses based on a great deal of information gathered from a wide variety of sources. Documentary studies are based on a large number of national and international written sources. The in situ visit provides the opportunity to meet with the parties directly concerned (both governmental and non-governmental) with a view to gathering detailed information. The process of confidential dialogue with the national authorities allows the latter to provide, if they consider it necessary, comments on the draft report, with a view to correcting any possible factual errors which the report might contain. At the end of the dialogue, the national authorities may request, if they so wish, that their viewpoints be appended to the final ECRI report.

The fifth round country-by-country reports focus on four topics common to all member States: (1) Legislative issues, (2) Hate speech, (3) Violence, (4) Integration policies and a number of topics specific to each one of them. The fourth-cycle interim recommendations not implemented or partially implemented during the fourth monitoring cycle will be followed up in this connection.

In the framework of the fifth cycle, priority implementation is requested again for two specific recommendations chosen from those made in the report. A process of interim follow-up for these two recommendations will be conducted by ECRI no later than two years following the publication of this report.

The following report was drawn up by ECRI under its own responsibility. Except where expressly indicated, it covers the situation at 20 March 2014; developments since that date are neither covered in the following analysis nor taken into account in the conclusions and proposals therein.

SUMMARY

Since the adoption of ECRI's fourth report on Slovakia on 19 December 2008, progress has been made in a number of fields.

The public denial, doubting or approval of the Holocaust, as well as other criminal offences committed on the basis of fascist or communist ideologies that encourage the suppression of fundamental rights and freedoms or violent ideologies, are now criminal offences.

Sexual orientation is now among the aggravating circumstances of a criminal offence.

The authorities and private entities can adopt positive measures aimed at eliminating disadvantages linked also to race and ethnicity.

The new Ombudsman has taken a more proactive role in the anti-discrimination field.

There are positive examples of using sport's values to counter racism and stereotyping, in particular against the Roma community.

A prosecutor in each judicial district and a special police department in each police district deal with extremism. 231 police officers specialised in minorities/Roma operate at the level of regional police departments.

A recent domestic court's judgment held that a school, by placing children of Roma ethnicity in separate classrooms, had violated the principle of equal treatment and discriminated against Roma children on account of their ethnic origin.

Good practices at local level facilitate the active involvement of Roma in social work and the so called municipal firms provide job opportunities for Roma.

The Government Council for Human Rights, National Minorities and Gender Equality established a committee for LGBTI issues.

ECRI welcomes these positive developments in Slovakia. However, despite the progress achieved, some issues give rise to concern.

There is no general provision that racist motivation constitutes an aggravating circumstance for <u>all</u> criminal offences. Citizenship and language are not included among the characteristics of potential victims of racist conduct and racial discrimination, which are punishable under the Criminal Code.

The Anti-discrimination Act is not applied adequately as the body empowered to monitor its implementation, the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights, does not function properly and independently.

Data on offences of hate speech and racist violence are not disaggregated in accordance with the different kinds of recorded specific motivation and do not contain a clear indication of the follow-up given by the justice system.

Anti-"minorities" rhetoric and offensive discourse targeting sexual orientation are common among politicians, and hate speech is recurrent on the Internet and in part of the traditional media. The leader of a far-right party was elected as regional governor.

There is a failure to implement the Roma integration programme due to a lack of will and because the various programmes remain under the responsibility of individual ministries.

An assessment of the progress of the Roma integration programme is impaired by the absence of comprehensive data. Poor housing and segregation in school are the most palpable evidence of the widespread inequalities encountered by Roma.

There is no adequate access to gender reassignment treatment, although this is required by law in order to change name and identification number.

In this report, ECRI requests that the authorities take action in a number of areas; in this context, it makes a series of recommendations, including the following.

Racist motivation should constitute an aggravating circumstance for <u>all</u> criminal offences. Citizenship and language should be explicitly mentioned among the characteristics of potential victims of racist conduct and racial discrimination, which are punishable under the Criminal Code.

The reform of the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights is an urgent issue. The reformed institution should be endowed with sufficient financial and human resources in order to fulfil independently and efficiently the tasks assigned to it by the Anti-discrimination Act.*

A mechanism for collecting disaggregated data on hate speech and racist homo/transphobic violence incidents should be put in place and the data made public.*

Slovakia should ratify the Additional Protocol to the Convention on Cybercrime, concerning the criminalisation of acts of a racist and xenophobic nature committed through computer systems.

Concerning Roma integration, coordination between the ministries should become mandatory and an evaluation of the implementation of the National Roma Integration Strategy should be completed without further delay.

The best way to counter segregation of Roma in primary education is to ensure that pre-school education is readily available to Roma children aged between three and six.

Gender reassignment treatment should be made available for transgender persons in Slovakia and the cost should be reimbursed by public health insurance schemes.

*

^{*} This recommendation will be subject to a process of interim follow-up by ECRI no later than two years after the publication of this report.

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

- I. Common topics
- 1. Legislation against racism and racial discrimination 1
- Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights
- 1. Slovakia has not yet ratified Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights, which it signed on 4 November 2000. ECRI is not aware of any progress towards the ratification of this instrument. As already mentioned in its previous reports, ECRI considers that this Protocol, which contains a general prohibition of discrimination, will enable Slovakia to combat racism and racial discrimination more effectively at national level.
- 2. ECRI reiterates its recommendation that Slovakia ratify Protocol No.12 to the European Convention on Human Rights.
- Criminal law
- Most of the provisions of the 2006 Criminal Code appear to be in line with ECRI's General Policy Recommendation (GPR) No. 7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination. The analysis which follows will concentrate on recent amendments or persisting lacunae.
- 4. Slovak legal terminology distinguishes between "citizenship" (občianstvo), an attribute of those who are citizens of Slovakia, and "nationality" (národnosť), which refers to the person's national/ethnic origin. ECRI notes that citizenship is not explicitly mentioned in the Criminal Code as one of the characteristic of the potential victims of racist conduct or racial discrimination ("prohibited grounds"). In order to ensure that this concept is indeed covered, ECRI considers that citizenship should be expressly included in the list of prohibited grounds, in addition to nationality² and affiliation to a nation.³
- 5. Moreover, contrary to what paragraph 18 of GPR No. 7 recommends, the Criminal Code does not punish public incitement to discrimination, when committed intentionally, against individuals or a grouping of persons on grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, citizenship, or national or ethnic origin. Incitement to discrimination is only prohibited under civil law by the Anti-discrimination Act. The Criminal Code under section 424 punishes only incitement "to the restraint of rights and freedom of a nation, nationality, race, or an ethnic group".

¹ According to ECRI's General Policy Recommendation (GPR) No.7, "racism" shall mean the belief that a ground such as race, colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin justifies contempt for a person or a group of persons or the notion of superiority of a person or a group of persons; "racial discrimination" shall mean any differential treatment based on a ground such as "race", colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin, which has no objective and reasonable justification.

² For ECRI, the term "nationality" in the definitions in footnote 1 should be understood as in Article 2 a) of the European Convention on Nationality: "(it) means the legal bond between a person and a State and does not indicate the person's ethnic origin".

³ ECRI is of the opinion that the mention of "affiliation to a nation" as a "prohibited ground" in a number of sections of the Criminal Code is not comparable to the prohibition of racism and racial discrimination on ground of citizenship.

⁴ According to Section 2a para 1 of the Anti-discrimination Act, discrimination can have different forms, including incitement to discriminate.

- 6. Also contrary to another recommendation of the same paragraph of GPR No.7, the Criminal Code does not punish as a separate criminal offence public insults⁵, when committed intentionally against individuals or a grouping of persons on grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, citizenship, or national or ethnic origin. This specific form of insult is only prohibited under civil law by section 2a, paragraph 4 of Article I of the Anti-discrimination Act, which includes "insulting" in the definition of harassment.
- 7. ECRI recommends that, in line with its General Policy Recommendation No. 7, the authorities ensure that citizenship is included among the characteristics of potential victims of racist conduct and racial discrimination, which are punishable under the Criminal Code.
- 8. ECRI also recommends that the criminal law is amended in order to punish, when committed intentionally, public incitement to discrimination and public insults against a person or a grouping of persons on grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, nationality, or national or ethnic origin, as per its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 paragraph 18 b) and c).
- 9. Many criminal offences are punished more severely if they are committed with a "specific motivation"; the "extremist motivation" in section 140 d) and f)⁶ of the Criminal Code which is comparable to "racist motivation" as in paragraph 21 of GPR No. 7. However, there is no general provision that racist motivation constitutes an aggravating circumstance for <u>all</u> criminal offences. For example, section 195 of the Criminal Code punishing the offence of infringing the freedom of peaceful association and assembly does not provide as an aggravating circumstance any specific motivation. In addition, section 140 d) does not include language and section 140 f) does not include language and religion in the list of specific-motivation grounds.
- 10. ECRI recommends that the Slovakian authorities insert a provision in the Criminal Code expressly stating that motivation on grounds of race, colour, language, religion, citizenship, or national/ethnic origin constitutes an aggravating circumstance for any offence, as per its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 paragraph 21.
- 11. In line with paragraph 18 of GPR No. 7, the Criminal Code under section 424 a) punishes (when committed publicly) defamation and threats, as well as incitement to violence and hatred against persons or groups of persons based on certain characteristics. The list of prohibited grounds is comparable to the one in paragraph 18 of GPR No. 7, except that language is not mentioned as an explicitly prohibited ground.
- 12. According to the authorities, some forms of language-related racism can be prosecuted under section 423 of the Criminal Code which prohibits defamation of "any nation, its language, a race or an ethnic group". ECRI is of the opinion that prohibition of "defamation of a nation or its language" is not comparable to the prohibition of public incitement to violence and hatred, defamation and threat, when committed intentionally against a person or a grouping of persons on the ground of their language. In addition, ECRI is not aware of any such cases ever

⁵ Section 49 the Minor Offences Act states that "any person who defames another person by insulting or ridiculing him or her is liable to a pecuniary fine of up to 33 €".

⁶ Section 140 d) "committing a crime with the purpose of publicly inciting violence or hatred towards a group of persons or an individual on the grounds of their race, nation, nationality, skin colour, ethnic origin, family origin or religious belief, or committing a crime based on national, ethnic or racial hatred or hatred due to skin colour". Section 140 f) "committing a criminal act of national, ethnic or racial hatred, or hatred on the grounds of skin colour".

having been considered a criminal offence under section 423 by the Slovakian courts.

- 13. ECRI recommends that the authorities include in the Criminal Code provisions criminalising defamation and threats, as well as public incitement to violence and hatred against a person or a grouping of persons on the ground of their language, as per its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 paragraph 18 a), b) and c).
- 14. Since the 2009 transposition into domestic law of the European Council Framework Decision on combating certain forms and expressions of racism and xenophobia by means of criminal law, the concepts of "extremist group", "extremist material" and "extremist offences" are now better defined in the Criminal Code. ECRI is therefore satisfied that the prohibition of the production and dissemination of "extremist material" is comparable to the prohibition of dissemination, production or storage of racist material as recommended by paragraph 18 f) of GPR No. 7; and that the prohibition of supporting and promoting extremist groups is comparable to the prohibition of the creation and leadership of a group which promotes racism, support for such a group and participation in its activities as per paragraph 18 g) of GPR No. 7.
- 15. However, ECRI notes that language is not mentioned in the definition of "extremist group" and "extremist material".
- 16. ECRI recommends that the authorities include in the Criminal Code provisions criminalising the dissemination, production or storage of racist material directed against a person or a grouping of persons on the ground of their language, as well as the creation and leadership of a group which promotes racism against a person or a grouping of persons on the ground of their language, support for such a group and participation in its activities, as per its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 paragraph 18 f) and g).
- 17. In line with GPR No. 7, Section 422d of the Criminal Code, amended in 2011, criminalises the public denial, doubting or approval of the Holocaust, as well as public denial of other criminal offences committed on the basis of fascist, communist or violent ideologies that encourage the suppression of fundamental rights and freedoms. Another recent amendment provides that hatred based on sexual orientation constitutes an "extremist bias" and is an aggravating circumstance for a criminal offence (section 140 g) of the Criminal Code).8
- 18. Paragraph 2 of section 19 of the Criminal Code states that "only a natural person may be considered the offender of a criminal offence". Therefore, contrary to what recommends paragraph 22 of GPR No. 7, legal persons cannot be held responsible for any of the offences mentioned above.
- 19. ECRI recommends that the authorities amend the Criminal Code in order to ensure that legal persons can also be held criminally responsible for the offences related to racism and racial discrimination set out in paragraphs 18, 19, 20 and 21 of its General Policy Recommendation No. 7.

⁷ Extremist group: section 129, paragraph 3 of the Criminal Code; extremist material: section 130, paragraphs 8 and 9 of the Criminal Code and extremism offences: section 140 a) of the Criminal Code.

⁸ This is relevant to the section Racist and homo/transphobic violence and subsection Policies to combat discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons.

⁹ According to the explanatory memorandum of GPR No. 7, this liability should come into play when the offence has been committed on behalf of the legal person by any persons, particularly acting as the organ of the legal person (for example, President or Director) or as its representative. Criminal liability of a legal person does not exclude the criminal liability of natural persons.

Civil and administrative law

- 20. In 2004 Slovakia adopted the Anti-discrimination Act (the Act), which transposed the EU directives on combating discrimination. The Act contains provisions against direct and indirect discrimination, harassment, victimisation, instruction and incitement to discriminate (Article I, paragraph 2 (2)) in the fields of employment, social security, healthcare, education and in the field of provision of goods and services (Article I, paragraph 5).
- 21. In the field of "employment and occupation", the Act prohibits discrimination on the grounds of, among others, religion or belief, racial, national or ethnic origin, as well as sexual orientation (Article I, paragraph 6 (1)). In other fields discrimination is prohibited also on grounds, among others, of language and colour. Moreover, according to the Act, discrimination based on sexual or gender "identification" is also deemed to constitute discrimination based on gender (Article I, paragraph 6 (3) a). 2
- 22. For a detailed review of the Act, ECRI refers to its fourth report on Slovakia, paragraph 18 et seq. The analysis which follows will concentrate on recent amendments or persisting lacunae.
- 23. In line with paragraph 5 of GPR No. 7, amendments in 2008 and more recently in April 2013¹³ to the Act (Article I, paragraph 8 (8)) give the possibility to the authorities (including local authorities) and private entities of adopting positive measures aimed at eliminating disadvantages linked, inter alia, to race and ethnicity, and at promoting equal opportunities in access to employment, education and healthcare. In line with GPR No.7, the 2013 amendments have extended the prohibition of discrimination also to the threat of discrimination.
- 24. A 2008 amendment to the Act introduced the possibility of public interest complaints (actio popularis). The Act provides that these complaints can be filed by "legal entities whose activities are aimed at or consist in the protection against discrimination" (usually human rights NGOs)¹⁴ or the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights (the Centre). Following the amendment in 2011, the Act no longer contains an exhaustive enumeration of claims that could become the object of an actio popularis; now the list of such claims is non-exhaustive.¹⁵
- 25. NGOs successfully bringing cases on behalf of victims of discrimination often have difficulties in getting paid for the legal work done. In reality their work is not different from that of lawyers, who according to the Bar Regulations, can have their legal fees paid directly out of the compensation granted to the victim by the

¹⁰ Council Directive (EC) 2000/43/EC of 29 June 2000 implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin; Council Directive (EC) 2000/78/EC of 27 November 2000 establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation; and European Parliament and Council Directive (EC) 2006/54/EC of 5 July 2006 on the implementation of the principle of equal opportunities and equal treatment of men and women in matters of employment and occupation.

¹¹ The EU Commission had to launch infringement proceedings against Slovakia due to the insufficient protection given to victims of discrimination on this ground. However, with the specific inclusion of this ground in the Anti-discrimination Act the proceedings were closed. EU Commission Report COM (2014)2 Final. p. 15.

¹² Relevant for subsection on Policies to combat discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons.

¹³ Act No. 32/2013 Coll. amending and supplementing Act No. 365/2004 Coll. (Anti-discrimination Act) and Act No. 8/2008 Coll. on insurance and on amendments to certain laws.

¹⁴ Article I, paragraph 10 (1) b) of the Anti-discrimination Act.

¹⁵ Article I, paragraph 9 a) of the Anti-discrimination Act as amended by Act No. 332/2011 Coll.

- court. NGOs do not have this possibility. This creates a situation where NGOs, have to employ lawyers to file discrimination claims. 16
- ECRI recommends that the authorities amend the law in order to ensure that NGOs who have successfully brought cases on behalf of victims of discrimination can obtain payment for their legal work in the same way that lawyers can recover their fees under the Bar Regulations.

Independent authorities

- In this sub-section ECRI will review the legislation on national independent 27. authorities in the light of its GPR No. 2 on specialised bodies to combat racism and racial discrimination at national level and GPR No. 7, which recommend that member States expressly entrust independent authorities with the fight against racism and racial discrimination in the public and private sectors.
- 28. ECRI notes that a number of coordinating bodies are empowered to deal with racism and intolerance in Slovakia: (i) the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities (ii) the Government Council of the Slovak Republic for Human Rights, National Minorities and Gender Equality (the Council), which has been entrusted with drafting the first-ever comprehensive human rights strategy, and all its numerous committees, including (iii) the Committee for the Prevention and Elimination of Racism, Xenophobia, Anti-Semitism and other Forms of Intolerance and (iv) the Committee for the Rights of LGBTI persons, and (v) the regional offices of the Bratislava Legal Aid Centre funded by the Ministry of Justice¹⁷, which provide legal aid to victims of discrimination.¹⁸ ECRI notes with concern that the Council has a complex structure which does not facilitate decision-making. For example, it has an organogram including a minister as chair and four ministers as vice-chairs, eight state secretaries and another 25 representatives of other institutions, as well as a number of NGOs representatives.
- While these institutions are not independent authorities, their activities are relevant to this report and will be examined under other sections.

The Public Defender of Rights (Ombudsman)

- The Public Defender of Rights, whose independence is guaranteed in Article 151 30. a) of the Constitution and Act No. 564/2001 Coll., may deal with racial discrimination issues when s/he examines claims concerning the alleged infringement of "fundamental rights and freedoms" of individuals by public administration authorities. When the Ombudsman finds that the violation of a right is of a serious nature or applies to a larger number of people, he/she can submit a special report to the Parliament requesting that the report is discussed in its next plenary session.
- The Ombudsman can act on his/her initiative or receive complaints. In her first annual report presented to the Parliament in 2013 the new Ombudsman commented on Roma issues and human rights violations. Moreover, in August 2013 the Ombudsman expressed, in a special report, concerns over the on-going existence of Roma-only classes in Slovak schools, cases of misconduct by the police and evictions of residents in eastern Slovakia. The report also contained a

¹⁶ European network of legal experts in the non-discrimination field, 2012: 8.

¹⁷ Based in Žilina, Banská Bystrica and Košice.

¹⁸ The amendment of January 2012 to the Act on the Provision of Legal Aid to Persons in Material Need eases the conditions for obtaining free legal aid; it increases the maximum income threshold allowed for accessing the services of the Legal Aid Centre from a 1.4 to a 1.6 multiple of the minimum living wage.

- number of recommendations addressed to the Parliament. ECRI regrets that the report was not discussed by the Parliament.
- 32. ECRI takes a positive note of the more proactive role of the Ombudsman in the anti-discrimination field as recommended by its 2008 report. However, although her competence to promote and protect human rights of individuals goes beyond pure maladministration, her remit, like that of the majority of Ombudsmen, is limited to the activities of the public administration as opposed to those of private or legal persons.
- Slovak National Centre for Human Rights
- 33. Article II of the Act assigns to the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights (the Centre) the task of monitoring compliance with the Act in line with "human rights and the principle of equal treatment". To this end the Centre should provide legal assistance to victims of discrimination, issue expert opinions on cases of discrimination, conduct awareness-raising campaigns and carry out research on discrimination (Article II section 1 paragraph 2 of the Act). The Centre publishes an annual report on the human rights situation in Slovakia.
- 34. ECRI's fourth report on Slovakia noted that some of the members of the Centre were not perceived as being independent. It recommended that the Slovak authorities take steps to strengthen the independence of the Centre as an anti-discrimination body. The 2012 ECRI Conclusions on the implementation of this recommendation noted that it was not fulfilled. In March 2012 the Centre's accreditation with the UN International Coordinating Committee of national human rights institutions lapsed due to failure to submit the necessary documentation.¹⁹
- 35. ECRI has been informed that a number of initiatives have been taken by the authorities to evaluate the Centre. The last one was carried out by an independent audit firm on behalf of the Ministry of Justice during the first semester of 2013. However, ECRI regrets that no follow-up has been decided so far, despite the serious flaws in the Centre's independence.
- 36. ECRI recommends that the authorities amend the legislation concerning the composition and the appointment of the governing and the controlling bodies, as well as of the director, of the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights in order to strengthen its independence. This will ensure that Slovakia has an independent authority expressly entrusted with the fight against racism and racial discrimination in both the public and the private sectors.
- 37. Finally, ECRI notes that the Centre is mandated to address discrimination also on grounds of sexual orientation since it is one of the protected grounds mentioned in the Act. It can also deal with discrimination on grounds of gender identity, because, as already observed, the Act incorporates discrimination based on gender identity under discrimination based on gender.^{20 21}

2. Hate speech²²

38. The resurgence of different forms of hate speech targeting vulnerable groups, such as Roma, other historical minorities and LGBT persons, has prompted the authorities to take a number of initiatives. These phenomena and the authorities'

¹⁹ UN ICC Sub-Committee on Accreditation 2012: 28. The Centre's request to regain accreditation was examined by the ICC in March 2014. A decision was expected in May 2014.

²⁰ Follow-up to Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)05, contribution by Slovakia, section 1.2.

²¹ This is relevant for subsection Policies to combat discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons.

²² This section covers racist and homos/transphobic speech.

response to them will be examined in this section on hate speech covering all forms of expression which spread, incite, promote or justify racial hatred, xenophobia, antisemitism or other forms of hatred based on intolerance.²³

Legislation

39. A number of sections of the Criminal Code punishing the so called extremist offences are also relevant for hate speech offences. Therefore ECRI refers to its analysis in the sub-section on Criminal law. Hate speech may also be dealt with by means of other, general criminal provisions, such as those on slander, defamation and insults. Civil law remedies are also frequently used to protect an individual from hate speech: in particular, Article 11 of the Civil Code, concerning the protection of honour and reputation and Article 13, which provides for a remedy in case of breach of these rights.

- Data

- 40. The Ministry of Interior, the Ministry of Justice and the General Prosecutor's Office are responsible for collecting data on offences related to hate speech. The statistics submitted to ECRI by the General Prosecutor's Office and the Ministry of Justice for this report are broken down only by relevant sections of the Criminal Code, are not disaggregated in accordance with the different kinds of recorded specific motivation of the offender and do not contain a detailed indication of the follow-up given by the justice system. Moreover, the statistics from these two sources differ on the number of persons convicted. The Ministry of Justice reports a total of 31 persons convicted in 2010 for criminal offences related to "extremism", ²⁴ 38 in 2011 and 32 in 2012. ²⁵ In sum, the data is too general to give a clear picture of the situation as regards hate speech.
- 41. ECRI considers that data concerning the offences of hate speech should be disaggregated in accordance with the different kinds of recorded specific motivation and should contain a clearer indication of the follow-up given by the justice system from the time of the recording by the police. This would help to gain a better picture of the trends in the country and to provide adequate policy responses and protection to victims.
- 42. ECRI understands that the Government Committee for the Prevention and Elimination of Racism, Xenophobia, Anti-Semitism and other Forms of Intolerance is ready to consider introducing a mechanism to collect such data.
- 43. ECRI recommends that the authorities ensure that a mechanism for collecting disaggregated data on hate speech incidents is put in place, recording the specific motivation, as well as the follow-up given to them by the justice system, and that this data is made available to the public.

- Racist political discourse

44. Anti-"minorities" rhetoric, in particular aimed at stirring anti-Roma sentiment to make electoral gains, has been common among politicians from the entire political spectrum. In particular, a defamatory campaign against Roma was

²³ See Recommendation No. R (97) 20 of the Committee of Ministers to the member States on "hate speech", adopted on 30 October 1997.

²⁴ For a definition of such criminal offences see paragraph 14 of this report.

²⁵ The most recent statistics on hate crime were submitted by Slovakia to ODIHR for the yearly report Hate Crime in the OSCE Region on 2010.

²⁶ The centre-right MP Štefan Kužma publicly accused Roma of exploiting state benefits by providing misleading data. See ENAR 2012: 40. Even the Prime Minister accused the ethnic and national minorities of being disloyal to the state and claimed that "Slovakia was founded first of all for the Slovak (ethnic)

conducted by the Slovak National Party (SNS) in 2010.²⁷ In the same year, this party also publicly called for the creation of an independent state for Roma to be located in Eastern Slovakia where all Roma should emigrate so that they cease to be a "burden" for the country.²⁸ The leader of the far-right party Our Slovakia (SLNS)²⁹ was elected in November 2013 as governor of the Banska Bystrica region, one of the three regions with the highest Roma population.

- 45. The low turnout at the 2013 regional elections in Banska Bystrica (in the second round 24.61%) should not diminish the seriousness of their outcome. Instead, it should be seen as the result of widespread distrust and fatigue on the part of the electorate, including the Roma community, with the way Roma problems are dealt with by local politicians. For more extreme examples of this distrust, such as the building of walls around Roma settlements and anti-Roma protest marches, ECRI refers to the section on Integration.
- 46. According to a number of political commentators, leaders across the entire political scene who have often used nationalist rhetoric for quick political gain share some responsibility for the fact that a far-right extremist was elected regional governor for the first time in the post-1989 history of Slovakia. In ECRI's view politicians have a crucial role to play in putting an end to anti-Gypsyism and more generally to anti-"minorities" rhetoric.³⁰
- 47. ECRI recommends that the authorities implement the legislation on banning political parties openly hostile to human rights³¹ and enact legislation on suspending state funding for these parties and banning persons convicted of offences of racism or racial discrimination from running for public offices.

- Extremist groups

48. Reports³² indicate the presence of about 500 active members of neo-Nazi groups and several thousand sympathisers in Slovakia. Despite their number their strategy has become more sophisticated in recent years. For example, they seem to be able to organise racist marches and public gatherings by exploiting certain loopholes in the legislation concerning restrictions on freedom of assembly (Act No. 84/1990 Coll.). It is possible to organise public assemblies just by announcing the gathering to the municipal authorities. Only when the assembly turns into an overt racist demonstration can the police disperse it. However, this rarely happens or happens too late.

- Racism on the Internet

49. Hateful and racist statements have been reported on the Internet (also in social networks). They mainly target the Roma community and to a lesser extent the

Nation, and not for the minorities". See Prime Minister's statement in Martin, on 26 February 2013: http://www.sme.sk/c/6715570/natiahnute-ruky-no-minimalne-obcianske-cnosti-tak-vidi-fico-pristup-mensin.html.

²⁷ For instance, in 2010 it launched a campaign associating Roma with abuse of the welfare system.

²⁸ See Hammarberg T. 2001: 8, paragraph 22.

²⁹ A party which expressed support for, and used the symbols of, the World War II-era fascist Slovak state, and organised numerous marches and gatherings throughout 2012.

³⁰ For example in February 2012, the former Deputy Prime Minister for Human Rights and National Minorities publicly condemned the recourse to defamatory speeches against Roma in electoral campaigns.

³¹ Section 2 of Act No. 85/2005 Coll. on political parties and political movements stipulates that the statute and the programme or the activities of a political party may not violate the Constitution, constitutional laws, other laws or international treaties.

³² See, for example, US Department of State 2012.

Hungarian historical minority and non-nationals.³³ Regarding the spread of racist ideologies through the Internet, a study has demonstrated a worrying tolerance of such practice by the public.³⁴

- 50. A public hotline, Stopline.sk, launched in 2010, can receive online reports about cybercrime, including "racism, extremism and xenophobia". It is part of a wider NGO project funded by the European Commission programme Safer Internet Plus, in co-operation with the Ministry of Interior. The Ministry of Education co-ordinates the Council of Europe's No-Hate Speech Movement campaign and has organised a number of awareness-raising activities in 2013. As a part of the campaign, a web page has been launched www.beznenavisti.sk (no hate) and a study of hate speech on the Internet is foreseen in order to map the presence of all forms of intolerance.
- 51. ECRI takes positive note of these measures. In line with its GPR No. 6, ECRI encourages the Slovakian authorities to adopt additional measures to combat the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material via the Internet, such as clarifying the responsibility that could arise as a result of the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic messages for the content host, content provider and site publishers (on the basis of their respective technical functions).
- 52. For example, despite a specific recommendation contained in ECRI's fourth report, Slovakia has not yet ratified the Additional Protocol to the Convention on Cybercrime, concerning the criminalisation of acts of a racist and xenophobic nature committed through computer systems. The authorities have informed ECRI that the Additional Protocol will be signed as soon as the Criminal Code is amended providing for criminal liability of legal persons for acts of a racist and xenophobic nature committed through computer systems.³⁵
- 53. ECRI reiterates its recommendation to ratify the Additional Protocol to the Convention on Cybercrime, concerning the criminalisation of acts of a racist and xenophobic nature committed through computer systems.

- Racism in the media

54. Criticism has been voiced against "coded" language used by certain tabloids which might disseminate prejudice and hatred, such as referring to "those people who don't work and survive on state benefits" (Roma) or reporting about protests against the Roma by the "good people of Slovakia" (neo-Nazi skinheads). At the same time these kinds of media do not pay sufficient attention to manifestations of racism, for example in sport. The 2011 Code of Ethics provides that a journalist shall not incite hatred or discrimination based on race, system of beliefs, religion, ethnic origin, age, social status, gender or sexual orientation, and that information about a person's belonging to a "minority" shall be provided only where it is relevant to the news. However, the Press Council of Slovakia, which ensures respect for the code, is competent only for printed media and is reported to be little known among the general public and not popular among journalists. It

³⁵ A form of quasi criminal liability for companies and other legal entities for certain criminal offences was introduced into Slovak law in 2010. It becomes relevant when it is not possible to establish the identity of an individual offender. However, acts of a racist and xenophobic nature committed through computer systems are not among the offences for which a company can be held liable under this law.

³³ Advisory Committee of the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities (ACFC) 2010:24, paragraph 98. Hammarberg T. 2011:8. CERD 2013: 3, paragraph 8.

³⁴ Open Society Foundation 2012.

 $^{^{36}}$ See State-funded hate is revealed in Euro media, Jon Silverman, 26 October 2012, The Jewish Chronicle on Line.

³⁷ Slovak National Centre for Human Rights 2012: 93-94.

receives very few complaints per year, 38 and only two cases were found in breach of the code of ethics.

- Concerning online media, there is virtually no regulation, not even selfregulation³⁹, apart from the requirement of the registration of the domain. Everything else seems ruled by business practices and relations within the Internet industry. ECRI understand that the Press Council has considered extending its competence to include online media in order to adapt its responses better to the new media environment. However no decision has been taken so
- The public-service broadcaster (Slovak Radio and TV) and some private 56. broadcasters have also taken measures to ensure that their journalists behave in a professional and ethical manner. Several complaints have been lodged with the Broadcasting Council for the negative portrayal of the Roma in broadcasting media.
- ECRI recommends that, without interfering with the independence of the media, the authorities encourage the latter to ensure better compliance with ethical standards, verify that the Code of Ethics is an effective means for combating all forms of hate speech in the media, including coded racist language, and strengthen it if necessary.
- 58. ECRI also recommends that the authorities encourage the Press Council to consider ways at raising its profile and visibility among the general public and iournalists.

Sport

- Offensive discourse at sport events, in particular football and hockey, is frequent. 59. The latest episode concerns a Japanese footballer who cited racism as the reason for his departure from the Slovak football club, Rimavska Sobota, in January 2013, after fans repeatedly hurled abuse at him at matches while his teammates and the club's managers never reacted.40
- The 2008 Act on Organising Public Events, Sports Events and Tourist Events sets out 60. the responsibilities of the organisers of public sports events, the spectators' duties and the responsibilities of local authorities and police forces. A law on the organisation of public sports events, which prohibits the display of racist banners, among other things, came into force on 1 February 2014. According to the UEFA regulations, which bind all national professional football federations in Europe, the first sanction for a club whose fans are found guilty of racist abuse is a partial stadium closure. If the abuse persists, there is a full stadium closure and a fine handed out.41
- In April 2013, a conference entitled Moving to the Next Step in Combating Racism and Homophobia Together in Sport was organised in Bratislava by the European network Free Kick for Equality and the national NGO People against Racism. The event was part of an EU funded project Football for Equality -Tackling Racism and Homophobia with a focus on Central and Eastern Europe (2011-2013). The Slovakian sports and civil rights association Futbal nas Spaja

³⁸ Školkay A. 2011.

³⁹ For example a radio service which broadcasts entirely via the Internet is not "broadcasting" according to the Broadcasting Act and therefore is not under the powers of the Broadcasting Council.

⁴⁰ http://www.thedaily.sk/nakamura-left-slovak-football-club-over-racism/#ixzz2bT78ap00. See also Slovak National Centre for Human Rights 2012: 93-96.

⁴¹ Back in 2002 the National Football Federation was fined by UEFA due to the racist behaviour of its national team' fans during a match against England.

(Football Unites Us) is a positive example of using sport's values to counter racism and stereotyping, in particular against the Roma community. The association favours the participation and acceptance of Roma football players in mixed teams.

62. ECRI considers that these initiatives deserve to be supported politically and financially by the authorities, since they are quite relevant in combating and preventing forms of hate speech in sport that may not reach the criminal punishment threshold but nevertheless constitute intolerant attitudes against vulnerable groups.

Hate speech targeting sexual orientation / gender identity

- 63. According to the LGBT survey of the EU Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA), 24% of the respondents in Slovakia experienced a hate-motivated harassment incident in 2012 (the EU average is 19%). Only 2% reported such an incident of to the police (EU average 4%).⁴²
- 64. LGBT NGOs reported a number of instances of hostile and at times offensive discourse targeting sexual orientation by political leaders. The worst statements were made by the SNS leader depicting homosexuals as abnormal deviants akin to paedophiles and they were published on the party's web page. Similar public statements were made by other politicians during a debate on the 2012 draft bill on civil partnership for same-sex couples. Moreover, an unprecedented hatefuelled campaign started after the launch of the draft Strategy for the protection and promotion of human rights in Slovakia, which included a section on LGBT persons. In December 2013, a pastoral letter of the Catholic Bishops' conference under the title Culture of Death contained highly offensive statements against LGBT persons. ECRI deplores the fact that none of these public statements against LGBT persons or the cyberhate campaign has resulted in criminal prosecution or civil proceedings yet.
- 65. As already mentioned, in accordance with the Anti-discrimination Act, the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights is responsible for dealing with discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity. However, ECRI notes that anti-LGBT statements by politicians have not prompted any meaningful reaction by the Centre. The 2012 annual report of the Centre does mention such statements but contains only a very general recommendation to keep "long-term and peaceful dialogue" between all stakeholders.
- 66. ECRI considers that litigation on behalf of this group by the Centre, using all legal tools provided to it by the Act, would be more appropriate than addressing recommendations which do not differentiate between victims and authors of hate speech. This is particularly important for the protection of the rights of vulnerable groups, including LGBT persons, where victims are often reluctant to initiate legal proceedings for fear of further victimisation. ⁴⁶ ECRI refers to the section on Topics specific to Slovakia for a recommendation on this.

⁴² EU FRA 2013 - EU LGBT survey data explorer http://fra.europa.eu/en/publications-and-resources/data-and-maps.

⁴³ Slovak National Centre for Human Rights 2012: 136-141.

⁴⁴ According to an NGO, in 2007 the Centre was asked to react to offensive statements made by a MP. The Centre considered that the MP's words had not amounted to a violation of the Anti-discrimination Act because they were not addressed to a specific individual.

⁴⁵ Slovak National Centre for Human Rights 2012: 141.

⁴⁶ See on this the European Network of Equality Bodies 2013. See also Article-19 2013.

3. Racist and homo/transphobic violence

- Data

- 67. Despite the introduction, in 2006, of a new data collection mechanism on racist crime, the figures available do not provide a uniform and detailed picture of the trends in violent racially motivated criminal offences in the country, as they are not broken down by ethnic/national origin of victims or racial discrimination bias, nor do they provide detailed information on the follow-up given by police and judicial authorities. This makes it difficult to have a clear picture of the situation, in particular concerning anti-Roma violence.
- 68. NGOs reported nine violent criminal offences against Roma between 2009 and 2012.⁴⁷ In other cases, Roma settlements were the target of vandalism that endangered the lives of the inhabitants. The worst incident so far, which received extensive biased media coverage justifying the killing, took place in June 2012 when three Roma were killed and two wounded by an off-duty municipal police officer in Hurbanovo.
- 69. Police ill-treatment (and generally speaking abusive behaviour) towards Roma have also been reported by the media, civil society and international organisations (IOs).⁴⁸ A study of the International Office for Migration (IOM)⁴⁹ shows that foreign migrants are also victims of violence and have few contacts with the State institutions to report such violence or to receive support. This experience is more frequent among members of visible minorities, such as Africans, or among the Muslim community. Low awareness of existing legal tools by vulnerable groups, combined with a generalised distrust of the police, make underreporting of racist violence, as well as racist verbal abuse, perpetrated by police, an acute problem in Slovakia.⁵⁰
- 70. No official data on homo/transphobic violence in Slovakia exists and no incidents of this kind were reported in the Annual Report on Hate Crimes in the OSCE Region.⁵¹ The NGO Iniciativa Inakost launched an online tool for reporting homophobic violence or to the same effect other homophobic incidents and providing information for victims. The NGO will record incidents and help those who report crime in their contact with the authorities.

Authorities' response

71. A prosecutor responsible for extremism exists in each judicial district; a special police department within the office of the head of police and in each police district deals with extremism; and 231 police officers specialised in minorities/ Roma operate at the level of regional police departments. The Strategy for Combating Extremism for 2011-2014 of the Ministry of Interior has resulted in the creation of a database of extremist symbols for consultation by judges, prosecutors and

⁴⁷ In 2009 a 20-year old man shouting Nazi slogans shot a Roma man in Zohor; in 2010 a man shot a group of Roma in Dubnica nad Vahom. In March 2012, a group of Roma was victim of physical and verbal attack by a group of three young men in Kosice. In April 2013 a group of 20 skinheads assaulted a Roma man and his girlfriend in Banská Štiavnica.

⁴⁸ Written comments by the NGOs Centre for Civil and Human Rights and People in Need Slovak Republic (CCHR-PNSR), concerning the ninth and tenth Periodic Reports of the Slovak Republic under ICERD, March 2013: pp. 8-10

⁴⁹ IOM Slovakia 2013.

⁵⁰ Searching for barriers in access to legal means of protection from discrimination: p.128 http://poradna-prava.sk/wpcontent/uploads/2012/11/Publik%C3%A1ciu-si-m%C3%B4%C5%BEete-stiahnu%C5%A5-tu-105-MB.pdf.

⁵¹ ILGA-Europe reported two minor physical assaults by a group of persons during the Bratislava Rainbow Pride March in June 2013, which have been successfully investigated by the police.

police, and new guidelines for police will soon be finalised. The police undergo periodic training on measures to combat new forms of extremist criminal acts and to prevent the excessive use of police force against Roma. The Committee for Prevention and Elimination of Racism, Xenophobia, Anti-Semitism and Other forms of Intolerance acts as an advisory body under the Ministry of Interior.

- 72. As of August 2013 an investigation related to extremism must be conducted by a police investigator (not any more by an ordinary police officer). In order to improve investigation further, an amendment to section 115 of the Code of Criminal Procedure is envisaged to allow the use of wire-tapping⁵² also in the investigation of criminal offences listed in Section 140 a) of the Criminal Code (extremist offences). Moreover, it is proposed that the police follow the same investigation procedure in all extremist-crime cases and that a mandatory requirement of recording all interventions by the security forces on an audiovisual tape be introduced.
- 73. ECRI takes a positive note of these efforts to improve the investigation of racist violence, but it notes that similar information on strategies and measures taken to step up the fight against racist violence was submitted to it in 2008 for its fourth report on Slovakia. ECRI regrets that these measures have not brought the expected results.
- 74. For example, the data provided to ECRI by the Ministry of Justice shows that between 2010 and 2012 only nine persons were convicted for a violent crime "for which racial hatred" was recognised as an aggravating circumstance. According to the European Roma Rights Centre (ERRC), racist motivation was included in the indictment only in two out of eight cases of alleged racist violence in the period 2008-2011, and it was recognised in only one case. A more recent ERRC report shows that half of the investigations of cases of alleged racist violence in 2011 were dropped.⁵³ In the Hurbanovo case mentioned in paragraph 66, the perpetrator was sentenced to nine years imprisonment and compulsory psychiatric treatment. However, like in other cases the racist motivation of the crime was not taken into account during the investigation and prosecution.
- 75. An amendment to the Criminal Code passed in May 2013 introduces sexual orientation among the aggravating circumstances of a criminal offence. The amendment will allow the police to record data about inter alia cases of homo/transphobic violence. ECRI therefore reiterates its recommendation already made in the Hate speech section on the need for detailed statistical data on racist and homo/transphobic crime.
- 76. Another area in which the response of the authorities can be improved is that of complaints concerning police violence. The Control and Inspection Service Section of the Ministry of Interior is competent for internal investigations of police misconduct. However, this service is reported to dismiss, within one month of their reception, more than 80% of complaints on the basis of insufficient evidence;⁵⁴ it does not keep a record of the number and nature of cases of racist

⁵³ The European Court of Human Rights (ECHR), in Mižigárová v. Slovakia, 14 December 2010 (74832/01) and Koky and Others v. Slovakia, 12 June 2012 (13624/03), held that the authorities had not done everything that could have been expected to investigate the incidents. However, the ECHR did not consider the case under Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination).

⁵² Section 115 of the Code of Criminal Procedure allows telephone tapping or mail surveillance in criminal investigations only in cases of extraordinarily serious premeditated crime or crime involving international treaty obligations.

⁵⁴ The annual reports on criminal offences by members of police forces shows: in 2010 184 complaints received of which 84% reviewed and rejected without initiating criminal prosecution; in 2011 168 complaints received of which 89% reviewed and rejected without initiating criminal prosecution; in 2012 158 complaints received of which 83% reviewed and rejected without initiating criminal prosecution.

behaviour of the police and their follow-up by the judiciary.⁵⁵ According to the Ombudsman the lack of an independent police investigation mechanism "not only elicits distrust in the police, but also creates room for a quite easy concealment of cases of police abusive behaviour, especially when the police interfere by its own action with fundamental rights and freedoms of individuals".⁵⁶

- 77. Finally, criminal proceedings are excessively lengthy due to slow investigation and prosecution, with some cases of racial discrimination brought to domestic courts in 2006 or 2007 and not yet concluded. The most famous example with extensive media coverage concerns a group of Roma boys who were allegedly subjected to degrading treatment while detained by police officers in Košice in March 2009. Although the racist motivation of the crime was included in the indictment of 10 policemen in spring 2010 to date the case is still pending. More recently, in June 2013, NGOs and the media reported repressive police action in a village in the Kosice region, Moldava nad Bodvu, which allegedly resulted in injuries to over 30 individuals, including children. Only six months after the incident did the General Prosecutor's office order an investigation into the police action which is still pending.
- 78. ECRI recommends that the authorities, with the support of NGOs and representatives of vulnerable groups, raise public awareness of the legal tools against racist violence and the steps taken by the police to combat it, focusing their efforts on those most at risk.
- 79. ECRI reiterates its recommendation that, in accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 11 on combating racism and racial discrimination in policing, the Slovak authorities provide for a body which is independent of the police and prosecution authorities, entrusted with the investigation of alleged cases of racial discrimination and misconduct by the police.
- 80. ECRI also strongly reiterates its recommendation that the Slovak authorities ensure effective investigations into allegations of racial discrimination or misconduct by the police and ensure as necessary that the perpetrators of these types of acts are adequately punished.

4. Integration policies

Roma integration policies

81. The main beneficiaries of integration policies in Slovakia are Roma, the second largest minority after the Hungarian minority. ⁵⁹ They live mainly in the Prešov, Košice and Banská Bystrica regions, which are the poorest in the country. Slovakia participates in the Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005-2015. A revised action plan for the period 2011-2015 of the decade is now part of the national

⁵⁵ See European Committee for the Prevention of Torture and Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (CPT) 2010: 15; CERD 2013: paragraph 9.

⁵⁶ The Public Defender of Rights 2013.

⁵⁷ CCHR-PNSR written comments to CERD: pp. 11-12

⁵⁸ The report of the Ombudsman on this incident, which was presented to the Parliament, identified a number of human rights violations committed by the police against the Roma inhabitants of the settlement. However, following an internal investigation, the Minister of Interior denied any misconduct by the police.

⁵⁹ There are 12 recognised national minorities. While ethnic data is not officially collected, the 2011 census recorded 105 738 persons declaring themselves to be Roma. UNDP sources estimate the Roma population at around 400 000 persons, representing 7.45 % of the total population of the country.

⁶⁰ Resolution No. 255/2011, Revised National Action Plan for the Decade of Roma Community Inclusion 2005 – 2015 for the period of 2011 - 2015.

Roma Integration Strategy (NRIS)⁶¹ up to 2020. The NRIS aims to "close gaps" in education, employment, health and housing between the "marginalised Roma community" and the majority population.

- 82. The Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities (GPRC) is the authority co-ordinating the implementation of Roma state policies. ECRI refers to the section on Topics specific to Slovakia for an assessment of the GPRC's role and performance. Despite the fact that a monitoring report on the NRIS should be produced yearly⁶², none has been published so far. In February 2014, the GPRC submitted to the competent ministries for comments a monitoring report on the implementation of the NRIS for the years 2012 and 2013. However, the progress of the NRIS has already been evaluated by NGOs⁶³ and IOs.⁶⁴ Moreover, ECRI has also discussed the matter with a number of officials, NGOs and institutions during its visit to the country.
- 83. According to these sources, the structure of the NRIS and its Action Plan are deemed satisfactory; IOs, as well as Roma and non-Roma NGOs were involved in the drafting process. However, despite the existence of a Commission for Roma Communities chaired by the GPRC, the implementation of the various programmes under the NRIS remains the responsibility of individual ministries (at least five). This makes it difficult to guarantee a comprehensive approach to Roma integration. Moreover, there is no part of the national budget specifically earmarked for the NRIS; the long term sustainability of the NRIS is doubtful since it almost exclusively relies on EU funds; NGOs⁶⁵ and local authorities have difficulties in accessing these funds directly and the monitoring of the implementation of the NRIS is impaired by scarce disaggregated equality data.
- 84. The NRIS aims also to tackle Roma stereotypes and stigmatisation within the majority population. However, according to a number of reports the inadequate enforcement of anti-discrimination legislation and measures against anti-Gypsyism is a major obstacle to the achievement of this goal. In order to counter these problems, the authorities have informed ECRI that the GPRC is preparing an action plan to eliminate Roma stereotypes through improved communication of their image to the public. Moreover, a National Strategy for the Protection and Promotion of Human Rights is under preparation, involving the active participation of all stakeholders, including Roma, and this is expected to be approved in June 2014. ECRI urges the authorities to ensure that the GPRC action plan and the national strategy are coordinated with the NRIS.
- 85. ECRI strongly recommends making coordination between the ministries mandatory and ensuring the NRIS's long term sustainability by clearly earmarking a suitable portion of the national budget for it.

⁶¹ Under the EU Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies up to 2020, adopted by the EU Council in 2011, all 28 EU states had to adopt a NRIS.

⁶² The GPRC should produce an annual monitoring report of the NRIS to be submitted to the European Commission, NRIS: 56.

⁶³ Lajčáková, J. 2013.

⁶⁴ EC (2013), Progress report on the implementation of NRISs, COM (2013)454 final.

⁶⁵ In 2013 the Ministry of Foreign Affairs funded, for a total amount of 900 000 €, 58 NGO projects, which however concerned different human rights activities and not only Roma integration.

⁶⁶ NRIS: 46.

⁶⁷ See in particular section on Fighting discrimination convincingly of the above mentioned EC report.

⁶⁸ For a definition of Anti-Gypsyism, see ECRI's GPR No. 13.

Policies' results

- 86. ECRI finds it difficult to assess the progress of Roma integration, in the absence of comprehensive data on Roma access to education, employment, housing and health. Most of the available data comes from IOs or NGOs, but only a limited amount from the authorities.
- 87. The authorities are aware of this fact. For this reason, the 2013 UNDP Atlas of Roma Communities in Slovakia was prepared in cooperation with the GPRC, the Association of Towns and Municipalities and the University of Presov. The Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family is also cooperating with UNDP on the collection of statistical data on the living conditions of Roma.⁶⁹
- 88. ECRI recommends that the authorities finalise without further delay an evaluation of the implementation of the National Roma Integration Strategy (NRIS) in order to measure its impact and redefine its parameters and goals where necessary. In this context the authorities should strength the collection of equality data on Roma, to assess progress in their integration, in particular in the fields of education, employment, housing and health, while ensuring respect for the principles of confidentiality, voluntary self-identification and informed consent. ECRI refers to paragraph 15 of its General Policy Recommendation No. 13 on combating anti-Gypsyism and discrimination against Roma.
- 89. Concerning the results of the NRIS in combating segregation of Roma pupils, ECRI refers to the section Topics specific to Slovakia. The NRIS aims also to address other issues affecting the integration of Roma pupils in school, such as high absenteeism, poor school performance and high drop-out rates.⁷⁰
- 90. However, the responses of the national educational system to these issues sometimes seem too rigid. For example, while the educational support provided by Romani-speaking teaching assistants has proved instrumental for Roma-pupil integration, ECRI has been informed that it is not always easy to recruit such teaching assistants, because they often lack the academic qualifications required by law.⁷¹ The result is that only a minority of the 400 teaching assistants speaks the Romani language. ECRI understands the need to ensure respect for the teaching-qualifications requirement; however, the added value of proficiency in the Romani language should be recognised and legislative changes should be introduced accordingly.
- 91. Moreover, the so-called "Roma Reform the Right Way" ("Rómska Reforma Správna Cesta") policy proposals, which were launched in 2012 by the GPRC, in point 1.5.1 of their explanatory memorandum, want to create a stricter link between parents' social benefits and the school-attendance rate of their children. ECRI understands the importance of encouraging school attendance; however, it wonders how a policy which relies predominantly on sanctions can succeed in promoting school attendance or enhance educational results, in the absence of concrete steps to address the other causes of high absenteeism of Roma pupils (e.g. poor housing in settlements which, while being far from the city centre, lack school and/or transport facilities). Moreover, according to NGOs, using the threat of sanctions to promote school attendance would run against the spirit of the NRIS itself. ECRI is therefore pleased to learn from the authorities that the

26

⁶⁹ Statistical Monitoring of living conditions of selected population groups 2010-2015.

 $^{^{70}}$ Drop-out figures show that 20% of Roma aged 17-23 did not completed lower secondary education (the national average is 1%) and 95% of Roma aged 18-22 did not completed education higher than lower secondary. Only 60% of the Roma population completed primary school, while only 0.3% of the Roma population completed university education

⁷¹ Act No. 248/2008 Coll. on Upbringing and Education.

current government does not plan to link social benefits with the schoolattendance rate of pupils (although ECRI does note that the "Roma Reform – the Right Way" proposals continue to figure in their entirety on the Ministry of Interior's website).

- 92. Another negative factor for Roma integration is their limited access to employment. Poor access to education resulting in lower qualifications of Roma can only partially explain this situation. The high rate of unemployment of Roma is also the result of: poor support in job search by labour offices; programmes of vocational training not suited for long-term unemployed persons like the Roma; and the reluctance of employers to employ Roma despite initial wage subsidies. Finally, there have been no concrete measures addressing the multiple discrimination of Roma women in the labour market.
- 93. In addition, the level of social benefits assigned to low-income large families, mostly Roma, is a disincentive to taking on low paid work. To remedy this problem, a draft law planned to be approved in 2014 provides that in order to continue receiving minimal income assistance and the social benefits linked to it, the beneficiaries will have to accept a certain amount of municipal work. (mainly public maintenance work or service projects assigned by the municipality). A number of NGOs fear that the fact that this work will be linked to the reception of minimal income assistance means that in some regions it will be almost exclusively assigned to Roma. This will contribute to maintain ethnic differences in employment rather than helping Roma succeed in the job market. However these measures are supported by the GPRC, which considers them a positive step towards developing work habits possibly leading to re/insertion in the labour market; such measures can also help counter the stereotype of all Roma being "lazy persons".
- 94. Another disincentive to employment is the lack of regular access to microcredit, which is provided only by a few NGOs on an irregular basis⁷⁷ for self-employment businesses or housing. Roma borrow money from private sources at unreasonable interest rates and quickly find themselves unable to repay the loans and subject to execution orders. Since the minimal income assistance is constitutionally protected from garnishment, Roma borrowers prefer to stay on welfare assistance instead of seeking a proper job whose salary would immediately be subjected to deduction to pay back their debts.
- 95. It appears therefore that NRIS policies supporting Roma employment have not adequately addressed these "vicious circles" which continue to exist. On the other hand, a good practice of positive incentives to Roma employment is the creation of the so called municipal firms providing job opportunities for Roma, often in traditional crafts, such as the one in the village of Spišský Hrhov in Eastern Slovakia. ECRI would encourage the authorities to support further these

⁷² 36% of Roma job seekers indicated that they were discriminated against at least once in the 12 months preceding the survey when they applied for a job. EU-MIDIS Main Results Report, FRA, p. 42.

⁷³ Support measures require that after an initial period of government subsidy, the cost of employment must be borne by the employer; Messing, V. 2013: paragraph 4.7.

⁷⁴ Gross wages for low paid work are around 400 €. The income assistance varies from 61 € to 212 € per month depending on number and age of household members. Considering the amount of income-assistance and the additional benefits attached to it (free meals for children at school, subsidy for travel expenses to go to school, etc.) taking on low paid work is not convenient for low-income families.

⁷⁵ This employment scheme started in 2004 in order to enhance the employability and maintain the work habits of job seekers.

⁷⁶ Changes would see it decreases of income assistance by 60.50 € per month for every adult household member able to work who declines to participate in activation work organised by the municipality or alternatively volunteers for at least 32 hours per month.

⁷⁷ For example the ETP Slovakia's Individual Development Account for housing.

kinds of local initiatives which are in line with the recommendation in its GPR No. 13 to find, in consultation with Roma, alternatives to the vanished trades in which they have traditionally engaged.

- 96. ECRI also notes with interest that is now possible to adopt temporary "equalising measures" (positive measures) also for the elimination of disadvantages suffered on grounds of racial or ethnic origin or affiliation to a national minority or ethnic group. This would create new opportunities for Roma integration in the field of education and employment. Since the implementation of these measures requires further clarification, the authorities have commissioned a study providing for guidelines on this matter. Needless to say that the availability of equality data would help greatly to devise positive measures in area where disadvantages are greater between vulnerable groups and the rest of the population.
- 97. ECRI recommends that, in line with the Anti-discrimination Act, the authorities adopt as soon as possible a comprehensive positive action scheme in favour of Roma and amend legislation, if necessary, to stimulate their employment, as well as that of other particularly disadvantaged groups. This scheme should be prepared in co-operation with local authorities, NGOs and the representatives of the Roma community.
- In so far as access to housing is concerned, ECRI notes that the NRIS aims at 98. reducing the proportion of shacks and illegal dwellings by 25%. 78 According to a UNDP survey, housing ranked among the most palpable evidence of the widespread inequalities encountered by Roma in Slovakia in the last 20 years.79 The housing situation of Roma has worsened recently with some 14 walls segregating predominantly Roma neighbourhoods, which have been erected in various locations since 2008; the latest was erected in Košice, the country's second largest city, in June 2013. The walls differ in size and scope, but all are resulted in deepening the segregation between the poorer Roma communities from and their better-off neighbours. Moreover, a number of anti-Roma protest marches (11 between 2010 and 2012⁸⁰) were organised to oppose the inclusion of Roma settlements in "urban areas" populated by non-Roma.⁸¹ While ECRI considers that these episodes must be firmly condemned, they are also to be understood as the most extreme examples of the frustration of the population with the way Roma problems are (not) dealt with by the authorities at central level.
- 99. ECRI was able to witness *in situ* the Roma very poor housing and health conditions of a Roma settlement near the village of Moldava nad Bodvou. At the same time, ECRI also witnessed, in the nearby village of Kecervce, the positive impact that housing desegregation had had in other sectors of Roma integration, such as education and community work. ECRI has also been informed that a new Building Act is being drafted taking into account also the problem of access to decent housing. The intent of the authorities is to address the legal issues which make it impossible to regularise most Roma dwellings. This draft legislation requires municipalities to update or adopt a "land-use plan" where they will have

⁷⁹ UNDP 2012. A more recent UNDP survey, published in 2014, indicates that only 46% of the Roma population live mixed with non-Roma, while the rest live in settlements of which 17% are completely segregated settlements far from the urban area.

⁷⁸ NRIS: 37.

 $^{^{80}}$ ERRC, Milana Šimecka Foundation and the Centre for the Research of Ethnicity and Culture (CVEK) (2013): 9, § 28.

⁸¹ For the content of discourses addressed by local authorities during these marches, see Slovak National Centre for Human Rights 2012: 106-107.

⁸² Kecervce is one of the few municipalities where field social work and community activities are organised mainly by Roma themselves living in the village.

to include the existing Roma settlements in the category of areas for "marginalised groups of inhabitants" within the urban area. The municipality will have to adopt a clear blueprint in this connection for the future (settlement development, including the legalisation of individual buildings or optional relocation/resettlement and subsequent closure of the original settlement).

- 100. The authorities are of the opinion that the solution should start from the identification by municipalities of appropriate land use for their territory. Only when the land use plan is adopted will municipalities receive funds to build legal settlements and expropriate private land, if needed. However, NGOs fear that in the absence of other measures (adequate transport infrastructure, utilities, etc.) this law simply risks relocating marginalised settlements at best or allowing mass demolition of illegal settlements in the worst case.
- 101. ECRI recommends that the authorities ensure an integrated approach to the Roma housing issue going beyond the simple urban planning aspects; this should include the necessary infrastructure for facilitating access to employment and education, as well as participation in community activities; assistance to Roma to register their home in the cadaster when possible; formalising lease agreements or facilitating land purchase from private owners; and ensuring the involvement of Roma in the decision-making process concerning housing allocation and creation.
- 102. Educational and employment gaps, associated with poor housing conditions in most Roma settlements, ⁸³ also result in poor health conditions for the Roma population. This is caused by reduced access to health insurance, lower child vaccination rates, difficult access to medical services and affordability of healthcare. Already in 2008 the Slovak Government adopted the Health support of disadvantaged communities in Slovakia Programme 2008-2015⁸⁴ including a number of awareness-raising activities regarding healthcare-related issues (vaccination, birth-control measures, patient's rights and insurance). This programme was successfully carried out by social workers in Roma settlements, acting as health mediators between Roma communities and local hospitals. In spite of the insufficient number of social workers employed ⁸⁵, the programme resulted in an increased number of vaccinations and preventive checks in the Banská Bystrica, Košice and Prešov regions. ECRI has been informed by the authorities that this programme, which was interrupted in 2012 due to budget cuts, has now been resumed and there are plans to expand it.
- 103. ECRI notes that measures are envisaged by the NRIS to improve the particularly vulnerable situation of Roma women, also in the area of reproductive rights. Following the three European Court of Human Rights judgments finding a violation of the ECHR in cases concerning the involuntary sterilisation of young Roma women in public hospitals having taken place around the year 2000⁸⁶, a decree was adopted laying down a clear procedure for obtaining informed consent prior to sterilisation. However, some NGOs have reported shortcomings in the application of this procedure.⁸⁷ In this context ECRI suggests that the programme of Roma health mediators, mentioned in paragraph 102 be expanded under the next 2014-2020 phase of the NRIS, in order to engage Roma

⁸³ According to the 2014 Atlas of Roma Communities in Slovakia, only 32 % of Roma dwellings use sewage while 11% do not have access to running water.

⁸⁴ Government of the Slovak Republic 2008, Report submitted by Authorities to ECRI: 17.

⁸⁵ 30 field workers to serve 160 000 Roma inhabitants, according to ENAR 2012: 26.

⁸⁶ K.H. and Others v. Slovakia, 28 April 2009 No. 32881/04, V.C. v. Slovakia, 8 November 2011 No. 18968/07 and N.B. v. Slovakia, 12 June 2012 No. 15966/04.

⁸⁷ Lajčáková, J. 2013: p 71 and CCHR-PNSR written comments to CERD: p. 15.

mediators in gynaecology and obstetrics wards in hospitals frequently attended by Roma women.

- Hungarian minority

104. The largest national minority in Slovakia is the ethnic Hungarians totalling 8.5% of the national population. The Hungarian minority is not the target of specific integration policies. As indicated in another part of this report, anti-"minorities" political discourse continues to be a problem. In comparison to the Roma minority, ethnic Hungarians are better represented, especially at local level, by two political parties, one of which was able to pass the 5% score of votes thus securing parliamentary seats. ECRI considers that effective participation in public affairs also through political representation is in itself an essential precondition for integration.⁸⁸

- Refugees and asylum seekers

- 105. In the last 20 years only 618 asylum seekers have been granted refugee status and 518 subsidiary protection status. ⁸⁹ A study funded by the UNHCR identified the lack of affordable rental housing for low-income groups as the key issue hindering integration. This applies to all beneficiaries of international protection (i.e. refugees and beneficiaries of subsidiary protection). In addition, the study identified as specific obstacles to the integration of beneficiaries of subsidiary protection, social exclusion and the lack of an integration programme that would include free Slovak language classes, the recognition of educational and professional certificates obtained abroad and one-time start-up financial aid.
- 106. ECRI recommends that the authorities promote the integration of persons with subsidiary protection through a State-funded integration programme guaranteeing minimal rights, such as the free access to Slovak language classes, the recognition of educational and professional diplomas obtained abroad and all other social services provided to refugees.
- 107. As of May 2013 both refugees and beneficiaries of subsidiary protection, after residing lawfully in Slovakia for five years, may apply for a long-term residence permit, which is a type of permanent residence, granted for an unlimited period. In the same way as refugees and asylum seekers, beneficiaries of subsidiary protection are now no longer required to obtain a work permit prior to entering the labour market. Moreover all these three categories have been qualified as "disadvantaged job-seekers" under the Act on Employment Services, which enables foreign nationals to benefit from special employment measures. ECRI takes positive note of these legislative improvements.
- 108. However, according to the Asylum Act, an asylum-seeker is entitled to work, only if no final decision on his/her application has been reached within one year from the commencement of the asylum procedure. In its fourth report ECRI recommended to reduce the one-year period and the UNHCR has requested to reduce it to six months.
- 109. ECRI reiterates its recommendation that measures be taken to provide asylum seekers with the possibility of working in Slovakia earlier than the current one year time-limit which runs from the beginning of the asylum procedure.

⁸⁸ For information on legislative and practical measures in the field of national minorities protection see ACFC 2010 and FCNM State Report 2014.

⁸⁹ Data from the Migration Office of the Ministry of Interior. The UNHCR data indicates that between 1992 and 2012, 669 persons were provided international protection of which 214 acquired citizenship. Concerning the subsidiary protection status, see EU Council Directive 2004/83/EC.

Other non-nationals

- 110. As of June 2013 the foreign population lawfully residing in the country totalled 68 405 individuals, mainly from the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Ukraine, as well as from Serbia, the Russian Federation and a few Asian countries. Their number has constantly increased from around 20 000 in 2004 to a peak of more than 70 000 in 2011. However they represent less than 2% of the total population and they mainly reside in the Bratislava region. While estimates on irregular migrants vary between 20 000 and 30 000 individuals, their presence is no longer exclusively linked to the East-West transit trough the non-Schengen border with Ukraine. Once they have entered, an increasing number stay as irregular workers.
- 111. Two policy documents Integration Policy of the Slovak Republic 2 and Migration Policy of the Slovak Republic Perspective until the Year 2020⁹³ – contain guidelines for the integration of non-nationals. However, these papers are very general and only reproduce the main EU standards and policies94 rather than proposing specific integration measures for the country. For example, although they set meaningful goals (such as foreigners' access to healthcare and social security, the gradual harmonisation of their legal status with the legal status of Slovak citizens, setting up a comprehensive mechanism for monitoring compliance with indicators of migrants' integration and involving in the integration process of members of migrant associations and communities), they do not specify how these goals can be achieved in practice. The authorities have informed ECRI that measures to achieve specific goals for the integration of nonnationals were discussed with target groups and will be outlined by the competent ministries in detailed action plans. Other criticisms of the integration policies for non-nationals involve the absence of a clear monitoring system capable of measuring the level of integration attained, excessive reliance on NGOs' activities and lack of communication and coordination among the authorities responsible for their implementation.95
- 112. In so far as the policies' results are concerned, a recent study published by the IOM (already mentioned in the section on Racist and homo/transphobic violence) reported that 56 % of the migrants interviewed felt entirely or partially accepted in Slovakia (in the Asian community this number was only 32 %). Only 46 % of the respondents thought that they had the same rights as Slovak nationals. This should be contrasted to the findings of another recent study⁹⁶, according to which one of the main objectives of the foreigners' integration policy the gradual harmonisation of the legal status of foreigners living in Slovakia with the legal status of Slovak citizens was being achieved. The second study also reported success in connection with another of the integration policies' objectives, migrants' access to healthcare and social security. However, according to the same study, non-EU nationals still had problems in getting real access to social assistance benefits that were guaranteed by law.

⁹⁰ Office of Border and Foreign Police, Ministry of Interior.

⁹¹ Mrlianova, Ulrichova, and Zollerova, 2011.

⁹² Resolution No. 45 of 29 January 2014.

⁹³ Resolution No. 574 of 31 August 2011.

⁹⁴ Treaty of the European Union, European Pact on Migration and Asylum, Stockholm Programme and the Global approach to Migration.

⁹⁵ Chudžíková, A. 2011.

⁹⁶ National Contact Point of the European Migration Network in the Slovak Republic 2013.

- 113. Generally speaking, the IOM study found that less than 38 % of the migrants interviewed thought that they had the same opportunities as Slovak nationals. The most significant factors causing inequality were, in the migrants' view, the country they came from, the type of residence permit granted, knowledge of the Slovakian language and their religion. ECRI recalls, in this connection, its often repeated position that the fight against discrimination should be a central plank of any integration policy.
- 114. Another worrying finding of the IOM study is that police action does not focus on the protection of migrants as beneficiaries of services, but rather on their prosecution as perpetrators of offences. This is why the IOM recommended the creation of a civil structure of first contact for migrants, which should replace the Aliens Police in handling matters related to the granting of residence permits.
- 115. ECRI recommends that the authorities complement as soon as possible the principles contained in the Integration Policy of the Slovak Republic and the Migration Policy of the Slovak Republic Perspective until the Year 2020, with specific measures in order to achieve tangible results in the integration of non-nationals.

II. Topics specific to Slovakia

- 1. Interim follow-up recommendations of the fourth cycle
- Functioning of the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights
- 116. The first recommendation invited the authorities to strengthen the role of the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights (the Centre) as an anti-discrimination body by ensuring its independence and granting adequate resources for its activities, including the representation in courts of victims of discrimination. In its 2012 conclusions on the implementation of the recommendation, ECRI remarked that neither of the two goals could be considered attained. Concerning the issue of independence ECRI refers to the sub-section on Independent authorities.
- 117. The analytical report on the functioning and status of the Centre, issued by the Government in June 2011⁹⁷, confirmed a number of shortcomings in the way the Centre operated, including lack of clarity regarding the duty to provide legal aid; lack of expertise to monitor the compliance of anti-discrimination legislation in line with human rights; undue political influence; low visibility and lack of sufficient personnel to meet its objectives; irregular use of public funds; and failure by the Centre's management and its supervisory boards to address the abovementioned deficiencies.
- 118. The Director of the Centre has informed ECRI that the functioning of the institution is now streamlined as recommended by the report. However, the Director regrets that the financial and human resources allocated to the Centre have decreased constantly over the years, jeopardising its capacity to fulfil its role. A number of NGOs have indicated that the current situation has led to the practical non-existence of an anti-discrimination institution in Slovakia; this has significant impact on the affective application of the anti-discrimination legislation.
- 119. ECRI has been informed that the reform of the Centre is being discussed by the Government Council for Human Rights, National Minorities and Gender Equality. The options examined include: either the maintenance of an equality body but with stronger powers in the area of anti-discrimination or the creation of a general human rights institution with anti-discrimination being one of its tasks. The first option would also imply the transfer of some of the Centre's competencies to the

⁹⁷ Debrecéniovà, J. 2011.

Office of the Ombudsman while preserving the Centre's core competencies as an anti-discrimination body. However, the authorities have stressed that a decision has not yet been taken and, in any case, it would imply changes to the Anti-discrimination Act and to the statutes of the Centre and the Ombudsman. A working group has been established, consisting of experts of the Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs and the Ministry of Justice, in order to draft the amendments of the Act on the Centre.

120. ECRI recommends that the authorities complete without delay the reform of the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights in light of the findings of the recent evaluation of its performance. The reformed institution should be endowed with sufficient financial and human resources in order to fulfil independently and efficiently the tasks assigned to it by the Anti-discrimination Act, whether the authorities opt for the maintenance of an equality body or for the creation of a general human rights institution (anti-discrimination function being one of its tasks).

- Capacity of the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities

- 121. The second recommendation concerned the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities (GPRC). Firstly, ECRI recommended the authorities to increase the capacity of the GPRC to manage funds allocated to Roma-related development projects by increasing its human and financial resources. Secondly, the recommendation stressed the importance of wide-ranging consultations with Roma community leaders and of regular monitoring of the progress of the projects.
- 122. In its 2012 conclusions on the implementation of the recommendation, ECRI noted that neither of the two goals could be considered attained (increasing human and financial capacities of the Office and consulting Roma). The staffing of the Office was still insufficient (especially after a reduction of the staff from 28 to 20 employees as of April 2012), its budget had not been disclosed to ECRI and no measures to consult Roma community leaders had been taken. In June 2012 the GPRC was also placed under the Ministry of the Interior.
- 123. Moreover, according to some NGOs⁹⁸ the fact that the head of the GPRC is also an MP (the first ever Roma to be elected MP), does not allow him sufficient time to run the office and pursue, at the same time, his own political agenda. In addition, the GPRC does not have any powers over the core funds allocated to the integration of Roma communities, which remain under the exclusive control of the ministries. Therefore, the GPRC seems to be an advisory organ without the necessary powers to guide and co-ordinate the implementation of Roma integration policies. As far as NGO consultation and monitoring are concerned, ECRI refers to the section on Integration.
- 124. ECRI reiterates its recommendation that the authorities raise the profile and increase the capacity of the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities (GPRC) in order to ensure that Roma issues continue to be a cross-cutting priority. In particular, the human and financial resources of the GPRC should be increased; it should directly manage some of the funds allocated to Roma integration; and it should have ample decision-making powers in the field of his/her competence.

_

⁹⁸ Lajčáková, J. 2013.

- Segregation of Roma children in education

- 125. In its third recommendation, ECRI invited the authorities to fight the de facto segregation of Roma children in education through the provision of financial and non-financial incentives to desegregate schools. As noted in ECRI's conclusions in 2012, such incentives were not adopted and school segregation seemed to be an ongoing reality in Slovakia.
- 126. Despite the ban on ethnic segregation guaranteed by the Anti-Discrimination Act and the School Act⁹⁹, de facto segregation continues to be practiced. For example, in August 2013 the Ombudsman expressed concerns over the on-going existence of Roma-only classes in Slovak schools. Moreover the authorities have admitted that 30% of Roma pupils attend special schools for children with mental disabilities. ¹⁰⁰ Roma pupils are also overrepresented in special schools for pupils with health disabilities (between 60% and 85%). This is often due to an incorrect diagnosis as well as state subsidies which create incentives for school managers and Roma parents to enrol children in special schools. To counter this situation, Roma pupils are often placed in "zero-year classes" in primary schools to support their educational needs before being enrolled in regular classes. However, in most cases the class composition remains the same until the end of the education cycle, resulting in segregation.
- 127. ECRI considers that given the differences in quality between mainstream education and education provided in special schools or classrooms, unjustified placement in such schools seriously affects Roma children's future education and employment opportunities. ECRI also refers to the case law concerning segregation in schools of the European Court of Human Rights¹⁰¹ which found that the unjustified placement of children of Roma origin in "special schools" intended for pupils with learning disabilities or Roma only classes had a disproportionate effect on the Roma community as a whole thus violating Article 14 (prohibition of discrimination) together with Article 2 of the Protocol (right to education). The Ombudsman recommended in a special report addressed to the Parliament a number of measures against the segregation of Roma pupils in schools.
- 128. A positive development is the judgment of the Prešov Regional Court of 30 October 2012, in a case of segregation of a student of Roma origin at a primary school in Šarišské Michal'any. The court held that the school, by placing children of Roma ethnicity in separate classrooms, violated the principle of equal treatment and discriminated against Roma children on account of their ethnic origin. This case was initiated by the Centre for Civil and Human Rights, one of the few NGOs pursuing public interest litigation.
- 129. The authorities have informed ECRI that they are aware of this persisting problem despite all the legal and practical steps taken so far. The issue has now been discussed in the context of the next phase of the NRIS with a view to allocating adequate funds to programmes countering Roma segregation in

⁹⁹ The Ministry of Education has issued an internal regulation banning segregation, defined as the "spatial, organisational, physical and symbolic exclusion or separation of Roma students due to their ethnic affiliation (often combined with social disadvantage) from other students".

¹⁰⁰ ACFC 2014: 27.

¹⁰¹ D.H. and Others v. the Czech Republic 13 November 2007 (Grand Chamber), Sampanis and Others v. Greece 5 June 2008 and Orsus and Others v. Croatia 16 March 2010 (Grand Chamber).

Four more recent proceedings connected to the violation of the principle of equal treatment against individuals of Roma origin are pending before the Spišská Nová Ves District Court.

- school. In particular, the authorities consider that "it is necessary to increase the quality of the diagnosis prior to assignment to special schools". 103
- 130. ECRI recommends that authorities monitor even more closely the system for assigning Roma pupils to special schools; ensure that the assessment of special needs is used to design an individual curriculum within the mainstream education rather than placing pupils in special schools; adequately inform Roma parents of what special schooling entails; introduce a clear duty for schools to desegregate education and at the same time provide effective support to schools and teachers to achieve this goal.
- 131. ECRI considers that one of the best ways to counter segregation of Roma in primary education and avoid their placement in special schools is to ensure that pre-school education is readily available to Roma children aged between three and six. For this reason, it notes with interest that the GPRC, in co-operation with the World Bank, is carrying out a pilot project supporting 315 mothers of 525 children attending kindergartens in 21 localities in the country. However, ECRI is of the opinion that more than one pilot project is needed to ensure that preschool education is made available to all Roma children aged between three and six years old. In particular, Roma families should be made aware of the role of preschool education in preventing segregation in primary school.
- 132. ECRI recommends that the authorities ensure that preschool education is readily available to all Roma children; support Roma parents so they can afford to send their children to pre-school; and create measures conducive to an inclusive environment in pre-school facilities.

2. Policies to combat discrimination and intolerance against LGBT persons

- Data

- 133. Comprehensive information on the LGBT population in Slovakia does not exist since section 8 of the Act on Personal Data prohibits the processing of data concerning health or sex life without the person's consent. According to the authorities this prohibition includes sexual orientation or gender identity.
- 134. Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 of the Council of Europe's Committee of Ministers on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity indicates that personal data referring to a person's sexual orientation or gender identity can be collected when this is necessary for the performance of a specific, lawful and legitimate purpose. It is clear that, without information about LGBT persons' experiences of discrimination and intolerance, there can be no solid basis for developing and implementing policies to address intolerance and discrimination of LGBT.
- 135. ECRI encourages the authorities to undertake research and collect data on LGBT persons in Slovakia as well as on discrimination and intolerance against them, while ensuring respect for the principle of confidentiality, informed consent and individuals' voluntary self-identification as a member of a particular group.

- Legislative issues

136. As concerns criminal law, ECRI refers to the section on Legislation. Concerning family law matters, the legislation does not recognise registered partnerships or other formalised forms of relationship, except for marriage which however can be

_

¹⁰³ ACFC 2014: 27.

contracted only between two persons of opposite sex. ¹⁰⁴ In August 2012, the Freedom and Solidarity opposition party (SaS) introduced a draft bill on registered partnerships for same-sex couples, which was rejected by an overwhelming majority of MPs. Had the bill been approved, same-sex couples would have had similar rights (except in relation to adoption) and obligations as married couples, including alimony, inheritance, access to medical documentation and the right to a widow's/widower's pension. ECRI would like to recall paragraph 25 of the above-mentioned Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5, which indicates that States should consider the possibility of providing same-sex couples with legal or other means to address the practical problems related to the social reality in which they live.

- 137. There are legislative provisions relating to issues concerning transgender persons which are problematic, such as changing name and personal identification number given that in Slovakia this shows your gender. In principle such changes are made by the Ministry of Interior and are based on a written declaration of the person concerned or his/her legal representative and the presentation of a medical certificate stating that the person in question has undergone sex change (it appears that in the Slovakian language the word sex is also used for gender)¹⁰⁵. The legislation is silent concerning specific medical requirements for changing sex. Many doctors interpret this requirement in a strict manner and in order to provide a certificate require proof of permanent change of the original reproductive organs or that the person has been diagnosed as permanently infertile. It appears therefore that the lack of clarity concerning the requirements for the change of name and personal identification number in the civil registry could be an obstacle for the acquisition of appropriate identity documents by transgender persons.¹⁰⁶
- 138. In ECRI's view closing this legal gap is urgent, but it should not lead necessarily to the strict requirement of proof of permanent sterility, or operations that inevitably lead to sterility, prior to the change of name and identification number. While ECRI is aware that, on this specific issue, States enjoy a certain margin of appreciation, 107 it notes that many countries' laws do not require sterilisation surgery in relation to name or gender marker's change.

- Asylum

139. The Asylum Act contains a quasi-literal transposition of the provisions of the EU Council Directive 2004/83/EC on grounds for granting refugee status. On this basis, asylum seekers fleeing persecution due to their sexual orientation can be granted asylum.

- Independent authorities

140. The Centre, which is mandated to monitor the implementation of the Act, should deal with discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity, to the extent that this can be interpreted to include the latter under the concept of

¹⁰⁴ According to an amendment adopted by the Parliament in June 2014, the following sentence will be added to Article 41 of the Constitution "Marriage is a union solely between man and woman. The Slovak Republic fully protects the marriage and provides all the means to secure its wellbeing".

¹⁰⁵ The law regulating the change of name and personal identification number contains provisions for changing the name of a person who is currently undergoing a sex change and a person who has already undergone this change: in the first case, the municipal office authorises the use of a neutral name based upon a written declaration of the person concerned and a medical certificate (Act No. 300/1993 Coll.).

¹⁰⁶ See the judgement of the ECHR in L. v. Lithuania, 11 September 2007, No. 27527/03.

 $^{^{107}}$ See, for example, paragraphs 70 and 71 of the judgement of the ECHR in Van Kück v. Germany, 12 June 2003, No. 35968/97.

gender. As concerns the Centre's activities in this field, ECRI refers to the subsection on Hate speech targeting sexual orientation / gender identity.

- Access to employment and health

- 141. A recent survey of FRA indicates that the vast majority of LGBT persons in Slovakia avoid revealing their sexual orientation at work. Moreover 19% of the persons interviewed replied that they felt discriminated against because of their sexual orientation. Transgender people are obviously even more vulnerable to harassment and discrimination in employment due to their gender expression. This survey also measured LGBT persons' experiences of discrimination in areas other than employment, namely education, healthcare and social services, and when accessing goods and services available to the public. 33% of the respondents in Slovakia replied that during the last 12 months (i.e in 2012) they had personally felt discriminated against because of being LGBT.
- 142. Concerning health, ECRI has been informed that there is no adequate access to gender reassignment treatment, although this is required by law in order to change name and personal identification number. This is mainly because certain doctors do not approve gender transitioning or are simply unwilling to help. Moreover, due to lack of specialised medical care, doctors send their patients abroad for surgery or to private health clinics for other treatments. Moreover, the psychiatric diagnosis of "transsexualism", which is required before a person can change name and identification number, in Slovakia still falls under the category of mental and behavioural disorder. The public health scheme only refunds sexchange treatment based on such a psychiatric diagnosis, which is not acceptable to everybody. These facts, coupled with the legislative issues mentioned in paragraphs 137 and 138, make access to health for transgender persons particularly difficult.
- 143. ECRI recommends that the authorities ensure that gender reassignment treatments, which are required by law to change name and gender identification in official documents, are made available for transgender persons in Slovakia and that their cost is reimbursed by public health insurance schemes.

Education and awareness raising

- 144. The above-mentioned FRA survey indicates that nine out of 10 persons interviewed in Slovakia have rarely encountered measures taken by their authorities to promote respect for the human rights of LGBT people. However in July 2012, the Government Council for Human Rights, Minorities, and Gender Equality decided to establish a Committee for LGBTI issues. The decision was unanimous and was taken on the initiative of nine different NGOs to promote policy with improvements in this area. The task of creating the Committee and establishing its activities was assigned to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Despite strong criticism by part of the public opinion of the inclusion of LGBT issues in the human rights agenda of the Government, the Committee has held several meetings.
- 145. ECRI hopes that this committee will become a forum for the discussion of the LGBT persons' problems that have identified in this report, such as hate speech and unclear legal and medical standards for gender reassignment, as well as the implementation of concrete education and awareness-raising activities in favour of LGBT persons.

INTERIM FOLLOW-UP RECOMMENDATIONS

The two specific recommendations for which ECRI requests priority implementation from the authorities of Slovakia are the following:

- To ensure that a mechanism for collecting disaggregated data on hate speech incidents is put in place, recording the specific bias motivation, as well as the follow-up given to them by the justice system, and that this data is made available to the public.
- To start without delay reforming the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights in light of the findings of the recent evaluation of its performance. The reformed institution should be endowed with sufficient financial and human resources in order to fulfil independently and efficiently the tasks assigned to it by the Antidiscrimination Act, whether the authorities opt for the maintenance of an equality body or for the creation of a general human rights institution (antidiscrimination function being one of its tasks).

A process of interim follow-up for these two recommendations will be conducted by ECRI no later than two years following the publication of this report.

LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS

The position of the recommendations in the text of the report is shown in parentheses.

- 1. (§2) ECRI reiterates its recommendation that Slovakia ratify Protocol No.12 to the European Convention on Human Rights.
- 2. (§7) ECRI recommends that, in line with its General Policy Recommendation No. 7, the authorities ensure that citizenship is included among the characteristics of potential victims of racist conduct and racial discrimination, which are punishable under the Criminal Code.
- 3. (§8) ECRI also recommends that the criminal law is amended in order to punish, when committed intentionally, public incitement to discrimination and public insults against a person or a grouping of persons on grounds of their race, colour, language, religion, nationality, or national or ethnic origin, as per its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 paragraph 18 b) and c).
- 4. (§10) ECRI recommends that the Slovakian authorities insert a provision in the Criminal Code expressly stating that motivation on grounds of race, colour, language, religion, citizenship, or national/ethnic origin constitutes an aggravating circumstance for any offence, as per its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 paragraph 21.
- 5. (§13) ECRI recommends that the authorities include in the Criminal Code provisions criminalising defamation and threats, as well as public incitement to violence and hatred against a person or a grouping of persons on the ground of their language, as per its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 paragraph 18 a), b) and c).
- 6. (§16) ECRI recommends that the authorities include in the Criminal Code provisions criminalising the dissemination, production or storage of racist material directed against a person or a grouping of persons on the ground of their language, as well as the creation and leadership of a group which promotes racism against a person or a grouping of persons on the ground of their language, support for such a group and participation in its activities, as per its General Policy Recommendation No. 7 paragraph 18 f) and g).
- 7. (§19) ECRI recommends that the authorities amend the Criminal Code in order to ensure that legal persons can also be held criminally responsible for the offences related to racism and racial discrimination set out in paragraphs 18, 19, 20 and 21 of its General Policy Recommendation No. 7.
- 8. (§26) ECRI recommends that the authorities amend the law in order to ensure that NGOs who have successfully brought cases on behalf of victims of discrimination can obtain payment for their legal work in the same way that lawyers can recover their fees under the Bar Regulations.
- 9. (§36) ECRI recommends that the authorities amend the legislation concerning the composition and the appointment of the governing and the controlling bodies, as well as of the director, of the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights in order to strengthen its independence. This will ensure that Slovakia has an independent authority expressly entrusted with the fight against racism and racial discrimination in both the public and the private sectors.
- 10. (§43) ECRI recommends that the authorities ensure that a mechanism for collecting disaggregated data on hate speech incidents is put in place, recording

- the specific motivation, as well as the follow-up given to them by the justice system, and that this data is made available to the public.
- 11. (§47) ECRI recommends that the authorities implement the legislation on banning political parties openly hostile to human rights and enact legislation on suspending state funding for these parties and banning persons convicted of offences of racism or racial discrimination from running for public offices.
- 12. (§53) ECRI reiterates its recommendation to ratify the Additional Protocol to the Convention on Cybercrime, concerning the criminalisation of acts of a racist and xenophobic nature committed through computer systems.
- 13. (§57) ECRI recommends that, without interfering with the independence of the media, the authorities encourage the latter to ensure better compliance with ethical standards, verify that the Code of Ethics is an effective means for combating all forms of hate speech in the media, including coded racist language, and strengthen it if necessary.
- (§58) ECRI also recommends that the authorities encourage the Press Council to consider ways at raising its profile and visibility among the general public and journalists.
- 15. (§78) ECRI recommends that the authorities, with the support of NGOs and representatives of vulnerable groups, raise public awareness of the legal tools against racist violence and the steps taken by the police to combat it, focusing their efforts on those most at risk.
- 16. (§79) ECRI reiterates its recommendation that, in accordance with its General Policy Recommendation No. 11 on combating racism and racial discrimination in policing, the Slovak authorities provide for a body which is independent of the police and prosecution authorities, entrusted with the investigation of alleged cases of racial discrimination and misconduct by the police.
- 17. (§80) ECRI also strongly reiterates its recommendation that the Slovak authorities ensure effective investigations into allegations of racial discrimination or misconduct by the police and ensure as necessary that the perpetrators of these types of acts are adequately punished.
- 18. (§85) ECRI strongly recommends making coordination between the ministries mandatory and ensuring the NRIS's long term sustainability by clearly earmarking a suitable portion of the national budget for it.
- 19. (§88) ECRI recommends that the authorities finalise without further delay an evaluation of the implementation of the National Roma Integration Strategy (NRIS) in order to measure its impact and redefine its parameters and goals where necessary. In this context the authorities should strength the collection of equality data on Roma, to assess progress in their integration, in particular in the fields of education, employment, housing and health, while ensuring respect for the principles of confidentiality, voluntary self-identification and informed consent. ECRI refers to paragraph 15 of its General Policy Recommendation No. 13 on combating anti-Gypsyism and discrimination against Roma.
- 20. (§97) ECRI recommends that, in line with the Anti-discrimination Act, the authorities adopt as soon as possible a comprehensive positive action scheme in favour of Roma and amend legislation, if necessary, to stimulate their employment, as well as that of other particularly disadvantaged groups. This scheme should be prepared in co-operation with local authorities, NGOs and the representatives of the Roma community.

- 21. (§101) ECRI recommends that the authorities ensure an integrated approach to the Roma housing issue going beyond the simple urban planning aspects; this should include the necessary infrastructure for facilitating access to employment and education, as well as participation in community activities; assistance to Roma to register their home in the cadaster when possible; formalising lease agreements or facilitating land purchase from private owners; and ensuring the involvement of Roma in the decision-making process concerning housing allocation and creation.
- 22. (§106) ECRI recommends that the authorities promote the integration of persons with subsidiary protection through a State-funded integration programme guaranteeing minimal rights, such as the free access to Slovak language classes, the recognition of educational and professional diplomas obtained abroad and all other social services provided to refugees.
- 23. (§109) ECRI reiterates its recommendation that measures be taken to provide asylum seekers with the possibility of working in Slovakia earlier than the current one year time-limit which runs from the beginning of the asylum procedure.
- 24. (§115) ECRI recommends that the authorities complement as soon as possible the principles contained in the Integration Policy of the Slovak Republic and the Migration Policy of the Slovak Republic – Perspective until the Year 2020, with specific measures in order to achieve tangible results in the integration of nonnationals.
- 25. (§120) ECRI recommends that the authorities complete without delay the reform of the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights in light of the findings of the recent evaluation of its performance. The reformed institution should be endowed with sufficient financial and human resources in order to fulfil independently and efficiently the tasks assigned to it by the Anti-discrimination Act, whether the authorities opt for the maintenance of an equality body or for the creation of a general human rights institution (anti-discrimination function being one of its tasks).
- 26. (§124) ECRI reiterates its recommendation that the authorities raise the profile and increase the capacity of the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities (GPRC) in order to ensure that Roma issues continue to be a cross-cutting priority. In particular, the human and financial resources of the GPRC should be increased; it should directly manage some of the funds allocated to Roma integration; and it should have ample decision-making powers in the field of his/her competence.
- 27. (§130) ECRI recommends that authorities monitor even more closely the system for assigning Roma pupils to special schools; ensure that the assessment of special needs is used to design an individual curriculum within the mainstream education rather than placing pupils in special schools; adequately inform Roma parents of what special schooling entails; introduce a clear duty for schools to desegregate education and at the same time provide effective support to schools and teachers to achieve this goal.
- 28. (§132) ECRI recommends that the authorities ensure that preschool education is readily available to all Roma children; support Roma parents so they can afford to send their children to pre-school; and create measures conducive to an inclusive environment in pre-school facilities.
- 29. (§135) ECRI encourages the authorities to undertake research and collect data on LGBT persons in Slovakia as well as on discrimination and intolerance against them, while ensuring respect for the principle of confidentiality, informed consent and individuals' voluntary self-identification as a member of a particular group.

30. (§143) ECRI recommends that the authorities ensure that gender reassignment treatments, which are required by law to change name and gender identification in official documents, are made available for transgender persons in Slovakia and that their cost is reimbursed by public health insurance schemes.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

This bibliography lists the main published sources used during the examination of the situation in Slovakia: it should not be considered as an exhaustive list of all sources of information available to ECRI during the preparation of the report.

European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI)

- 1. ECRI (2012a), Conclusions on the implementation of the recommendations in respect of Slovakia subject to interim follow-up, CRI(2012)29.
- 2. ECRI (2009a); Fourth report on Slovakia, CRI(2009)20.
- 3. ECRI (2004a), Third Report on Slovakia, CRI(2004)24.
- 4. ECRI (2000a), Second report on Slovakia, CRI(2000)35.
- 5. ECRI (1998a), Report on Slovakia, CRI(98)51.
- 6. ECRI (1996), General Policy Recommendation No. 1: Combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, CRI(96)43.
- 7. ECRI (1997), General Policy Recommendation No. 2: Specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level, CRI(97)36.
- 8. ECRI (1998b), General Policy Recommendation No. 3: Combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies, CRI(98)29.
- 9. ECRI (1998c), General Policy Recommendation No. 4: National surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of potential victims. CRI(98)30.
- 10. ECRI (2000b), General Policy Recommendation No. 5: Combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims, CRI(2000)21.
- 11. ECRI (2000c), General Policy Recommendation No. 6: Combating the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material via the Internet, CRI(2001)1.
- 12. ECRI (2003), General Policy Recommendation No. 7: National legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, CRI(2003)8.
- 13. ECRI (2004b), General Policy Recommendation No. 8: Combating racism while fighting terrorism, CRI(2004)26.
- 14. ECRI (2004c), General Policy Recommendation No. 9: The fight against antisemitism, CRI(2004)37.
- 15. ECRI (2007a), General Policy Recommendation No. 10: Combating racism and racial discrimination in and through school education, CRI(2007)6.
- 16. ECRI (2007b), General Policy Recommendation No. 11: Combating racism and racial discrimination in policing, CRI(2007)39.
- 17. ECRI (2009b), General Policy Recommendation No. 12: Combating racism and racial discrimination in the field of sport, CRI(2009)5.
- 18. ECRI (2011), General Policy Recommendation No. 13: Combating anti-Gypsyism and discrimination against Roma, CRI(2011)37.
- 19. ECRI (2012b), General Policy Recommendation No. 14: Combating racism and racial discrimination in employment, CRI(2012)48.

Other sources

- 20. Government of the Slovak Republic (2008), Resolution No. 609 of 10 September 2008.
- 21. Government of the Slovak Republic (2011), Migration policy of the Slovak Republic Perspective until the year 2020.
- 22. Public Defender of Rights (2013), Extraordinary Report regarding facts indicating serious violation of fundamental rights and freedoms by actions taken by some bodies.
- 23. Slovak National Centre for Human Rights (2012), Alternative Report on the implementation of the UN CERD.
- 24. Slovak National Centre for Human Rights (2013a), Report 2012 on the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights.

- 25. Slovak National Centre for Human Rights (2013b), Report 2012 on the observance of human rights including the observance of the principle of equal treatment and rights of the child in the Slovak Republic.
- 26. Council of Europe (2011), Discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation and gender identity in Europe.
- 27. Council of Europe, Committee of Ministers (2010), Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender.
- 28. Council of Europe (2012), Reply by the Slovak Government to the questionnaire on the implementation of Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 of the Committee of Ministers, CDDH(2012) R 76 Addendum VIII, reply to question no. 10.
- 29. Council of Europe, Committee of Ministers (2013), Response of the Slovak authorities to the questionnaire concerning Recommendation CM/Rec(2010)5 on measures to combat discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation or gender identity.
- 30. European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) (2003), Van Kück v. Germany, Application no. 35968/97, Judgment.
- 31. ECtHR (2007), D.H. and Others v. the Czech Republic (Grand Chamber), Application no. 57325/00, Judgment.
- 32. Cour européenne des droits de l'homme (2008), Sampanis et autres c. Grèce, Requête no 32526/05, Arrêt.
- 33. ECtHR (2010), Orsus and Others v. Croatia [GC], Application no. 15766/03, Judgment.
- 34. ECtHR (2011), V.C. v. Slovakia, Application no. 18968/07, Judgment.
- 35. ECtHR (2012a), N.B. v. Slovakia, Application no. 29518/10, Judgment.
- 36. ECtHR (2012b), I.G. and Others v. Slovakia, Application no. 15966/04, Judgment.
- 37. Council of Europe, Commissioner for Human Rights (2011), Report on his visit to Slovakia (26-27 September 2011).
- 38. Council of Europe, Advisory Committee on the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities (Advisory Committee) (2011), Third Opinion on the Slovak Republic, ACFC/OP/III(2010)004.
- 39. Advisory Committee (2014), Fourth report submitted by the Slovak Republic pursuant to Article 25, paragraph 2 of the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities.
- 40. Ad hoc Committee of experts on Roma Issues (CAHROM) (2012), 18 prov. Draft thematic report, Inclusive education for Roma children as opposed to special schools.
- 41. European Roma and Travellers Forum (2013, September 12), Letter to the Minister of Interior of the Slovak Republic concerning behaviour of the police in the Romani settlements of Moldava nad Bodvou and Drienovec.
- 42. UN Committee for the Elimination of all Racial Discrimination (CERD) (2013), Concluding Observations on Slovakia.
- 43. CERD (2012), Report submitted by Slovakia.
- 44. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (2011), Have the Roma in Slovakia benefitted from the European Social Funds?
- 45. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) (2013), A New Beginning Refugee Integration in Europe.
- 46. UN International Coordinating Committee of national human rights institutions, Sub-Committee on Accrediation (2012), Report.
- 47. UNDP (2012a), Reports on the living conditions of Romani households in Slovakia, 2010.
- 48. UNDP (2012b), The health situation of Roma communities: analysis of the UNDP/World Bank /EC Regional Roma Survey Data.
- 49. Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE), High Commissioner on National Minorities (2012), Ljubljana Guidelines on Integration of Diverse Societies.
- 50. OSCE Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights (ODIHR) (2013), Hate crimes in the OSCE region incidents and responses, Annual report for 2012.

- 51. Council Directive (EC) 2000/43/EC of the Council of the European Union of 29 June 2000 implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin.
- 52. Council Directive (EC) 2000/78/EC of the Council of the European Union of 27 November 2000 establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation.
- 53. European Commission (2013), Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, Steps forward in implementing National Roma Integration Strategies, COM(2013)454 final.
- 54. European Commission (2014), Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the Implementation of Council Framework Decision 2008/913/JHA on combating certain forms and expressions of racism and xenophobia by means of criminal law, COM(2014) 27 final.
- 55. European Parliament and Council Directive (EC) 2006/54/EC of 5 July 2006 on the implementation of the principle of equal opportunities and equal treatment of men and women in matters of employment and occupation.
- 56. European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA) (2013a), Opinion on the Framework Decision on Racism and Xenophobia with special attention to the rights of victims of crime.
- 57. FRA (2013b), EU LGBT survey data explorer.
- 58. FRA (2013c), Making hate crime visible in the European Union: acknowledging victims' rights.
- 59. Article 19 (2013), Responding to hate speech against LGTBI people.
- 60. Bihariová, I. (2013), Shadow Report 2011-2012, Racism and related discriminatory practices in Slovakia, European network against racism (ENAR).
- 61. Boyd, J., Nakamura Left Slovak Football Club Over Racism, the Daily.SK, 31 January 2013.
- 62. Center for Civil and Human Rights and People in Need Slovak Republic (2013), Written Comments Concerning the Ninth and Tenth Periodic Reports of the Slovak Republic Under the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination
- 63. Chudžíková, A. (2011), Koncepcia integrácie cudzincov v SR: nejasné ciele, nejasné výsledky [Strategy of Foreigners' Integration: unclear goals, unclear results], Menšinová politika na Slovensku.
- 64. Debrecéniová, J. and Dlugošová, Z. (2012), Report on measures to combat discrimination, Directives 2000/43/EC and 2000/78/EC, Country Report 2011 Slovakia, European network of legal experts in the non-discrimination field.
- 65. Drodz, P. (2013), Migrant Access to Social Security and Health Care in the Slovak Republic: Policies and Practice, Study of the National Contact Point of the European Migration Network in the Slovak Republic, International Organisation for Migration (IOM).
- 66. European Network of Equality Bodies (Equinet) (2013), Promoting Equality & Non-Discrimination for LGBTI People - An Equinet Perspective.
- 67. European Roma Rights Centre (ERRC) (2011), Imperfect Justice: anti-Roma Violence and impunity.
- 68. ERRC (2012), Challenges of representation: Voices on Roma politics, power and participation, Roma Rights 1/2012.
- 69. ERRC, Milana Šimecka Foundation and the Centre for the Research of Ethnicity and Culture (CVEK) (2013), Parallel report concerning Slovakia to the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination.
- 70. International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association (ILGA)-Europe (2013), Annual Review.
- 71. IOM Slovakia (2013), Causes, Forms and Consequences of Violence Against Third Country Nationals, Executive Summary.

- 72. Lajčáková, J, (2013), Civil Society Monitoring Report on the implementation of the National Roma Integration Strategy and Decade Action Plan in 2012 in Slovakia, prepared by an NGO's coalition, Decade of Roma Inclusion Secretariat Foundation.
- 73. ERRC (2013), National Roma Integration Strategies (NRIS): what next Slovakia.
- 74. Messing, V et al (2013), From benefits to brooms, NeuJobs Working paper No. 19.3.
- 75. Mrlianova, A., Ulrichova, N. and Zollerova, M. (2011), Practical Measures for Reducing Irregular Migration in the Slovak Republic.
- 76. Open Society Foundation (2012), Public Opinion Poll on Right Wing Extremism in Slovakia.
- 77. Poradňa (2012), Discrimination is Slovakia: Searching for barriers in access to legal means of protection from discrimination (executive summary in English).
- 78. Romea, Slovakia: Punishment for shooter of three Romani victims called absurdly low, 28 March 2013.
- 79. Školkay, A. (2011), Media Law in Slovakia, Kluver Law International.
- 80. Silverman, J., When you have a regular commentator on state television who describes 9/11 as 'an inside job' by the United States Jewish lobby, you have to be concerned." Concerns of anti-semitism in Euro media, Jewish Cronicle on Line, 26 October 2012.
- 81. Štiavnica, B., Slovakia: Romani man from Czech Republic and others beaten by 20 skinheads, ROMEA, 11 April 2013.
- 82. Terenzani-Stanková, M; Top court: 'parasite' not racist term, Slovak Spectator, 20 May 2013.
- 83. United States Department of State (2013), Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights and Labor, Slovakia 2012 human rights report

.

APPENDIX: GOVERNMENT'S VIEWPOINT

The following appendix does not form part of ECRI's analysis and proposals concerning the situation in Slovakia

ECRI, in accordance with its country-by-country procedure, engaged in confidential dialogue with the authorities of Slovakia on a first draft of the report. A number of the authorities' comments were taken on board and integrated into the report's final version (which, unless otherwise indicated, only takes into account developments up until 20 March 2014, date of the examination of the first draft).

The authorities also requested that the following viewpoint be reproduced as an appendix to the report.

Comment of the Slovak Republic on

"The Fifth Report on Slovakia" prepared by the European Commission Against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI)

The Slovak Republic appreciates constructive dialogue with ECRI during the fifth monitoring cycle and welcomes the fact that ECRI recognised the progress that has been made in many areas since the last monitoring cycle. Moreover, it states with satisfaction that the majority of suggestions towards the draft Report on Slovakia was incorporated into the final version, which increased the quality of the Report. The Slovak Republic supports the activities of ECRI in its fight against racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia, antisemitism and other types of intolerance and it will pay considerable attention to recommendations included in the ECRI Fifth Report on Slovakia.

Slovakia associates itself with the ECRI recommendations included in the Report. Some of the recommendations regarding e.g. criminal liability of corporate entity, are currently in a legislative process and will be implemented soon.

However, the opinion of the Slovakia Republic is that in some paragraphs the Report fails to reflect the <u>actually valid state</u> to the whole extent. Therefore, we would like to specify some issues important to Slovakia in the following comment.

.....

I. COMMON TOPICS

1. Legislation against racism and racial discrimination

- Criminal law (paragraphs 3 -19)

Slovakia associates itself with ECRI statement that citizenship protection is not explicitly stated as an element of the criminal offence in the current wording of the Criminal Act. However, the Criminal Act intentionally includes affiliation to race, nation, nationality (person's national/ethnic origin), colour of skin, ethnic group or origin, which covers the full scale of possible racist and xenophobic motives. If there is a difference in terminology between nation and nationality then we must unambiguously come to the conclusion that affiliation to a nation includes nationality (in light of Article 2a) of the European Convention on Nationality¹) and therefore citizenship as well.

Furthermore, the opinion of the Slovak Republic is that the protection of language is sufficiently emphasised in Article 423, Section 1, Subsection a) of the Criminal Act and adequately punishes acts <u>such as language defamation as offender's subjective expression</u>.

The recommendation to amend the Criminal Act by a provision expressly stating that motivation based on race, colour of skin, language, religion, citizenship or national/ethnic origin shall represent an aggravating circumstance for any criminal offence, is not possible to implement. The current wording of the Criminal Act punishes specific acts of extremism and racial motivation in provisions of Articles 421

¹ Article 2a) of the European Convention on Nationality: ô(it" means the legal bond between a person and a State and does not indicate the person's ethnic origin".

to 424a of the Criminal Act as well as other acts of the criminal offences². Incorporating the motivation of a perpetrator who committed a crime due to race, colour of skin, language, religion, citizenship or national/ethic origin into aggravating circumstances would mean double punishment, since specific motivation, according to the above mentioned provision of the Criminal Act, represents an element of a criminal offence, which is clearly reflected in a more severe punishment. Moreover, it does not seem possible and suitable to include racial motivation as an aggravating circumstance for all criminal offences. Specific criminal offences have various subjects of protection and therefore it seems not possible to consider racial motivation for all the criminal offences, e.g. for the criminal offences of poaching, concealment of a thing, etc.

- Independent authorities (paragraph 28)

In the 2010 Manifesto, the Government of the Slovak Republic committed to pursue strengthening of the human right principles application in its activities and the activities of public authorities. For such purpose, a new permanent advisory body of the Government of the Slovak Republic has been established in 2010 - the Government Council of the Slovak Republic for Human Rights, National Minorities and Gender Equity.

The Government Council is a coordination body regarding the area of protection of fundamental rights and freedoms, political and civil rights, rights of persons belonging to national minorities and ethnic groups, economic, social and cultural rights, rights for the protection of the environment and cultural heritage, children's rights and enforcing the best interest of a child, in the area of rights of people with disabilities and rights of elderly when enforcing the principle of equal treatment, equal opportunities and gender equality. The composition of the Council is unique, because it brings together ministers and high-ranked state officials with the possibility to approve relevant decisions on the one hand. and on the other hand, it ensures the participation of other governmental institutions, academia, towns and municipalities as well as the civil society in a decision-making process. Therefore, it creates a unique platform for meeting and approving decisions of the broadest spectrum of the society in areas imminently related to them. There are approximately six meetings of the Council per year.

At an expert level, there are seven committees to the Council - Committee for National Minorities and Ethnic Groups, Committee for Persons with Disabilities, Committee for Gender Equality, Committee for Children and Youth, Committee for Research, Education and Upbringing in the Area of Human Rights and Development Education, Committee for Prevention and Elimination of Racism, Xenophobia, Antisemitism and Other Forms of Intolerance and Committee for Rights of Gays, Lesbians, Bisexual, Transgender and Intersexual Persons. By means of the above mentioned committees, the organisations representing vulnerable groups have the possibility to influence decision-making process. The committees provide the possibility to be engaged in particular areas within the competence of the Council and given the more specific composition also meet more often.

Currently, there are negotiations taking place at the working level to make the internal functioning of the Council more effective so it can respond effectively to the current issues regarding human rights.

52

² By using provisions of Article 140a of the Criminal Act with reference to provisions of Article 140, Sections d) and f) of the Criminal Act as a specific motive.

2. Hate speech (paragraphs 40 - 53)

The ECRI Report is based on information provided by the Slovak Republic to OBSE-ODIHR in preparing the annual report on hate crimes in the OBSE region. The need to recognise such criminal offences according to the type of motivation (also required by OBSE-ODIHR) led to the opening of this topic at the Committee for Prevention and Elimination of Racism, Xenophobia, Antisemitism and Other Forms of Intolerance. The Committee will deal with this issue in detail at one of its working groups. The goal of this working group is to amend the existing forms for all parties that are a part of the criminal proceedings in such a way as to enable the tracking of particular types of motivation.

As a supplement of further activities leading to the collection of data and reports related to racism, extremism and xenophobia, the Slovak Republic states that in 2014, the NEHEJTUJ.sk project was launched, prepared by eSlovensko civic association and its partners. The project is designed for primary and secondary schools in Slovakia as well as other state and private institutions working with children and youth. The output of the project is a handbook and DVD with a selection of Slovak as well as foreign films focused on the topic of intolerance.

3. Integration policies

- Roma integration policies (paragraphs 81-103)

The Slovak Republic disagrees with the evaluation that the Roma integration program was not implemented due to the lack of will as well as due to the fact that different programs remain under the responsibility of particular ministries. Improving the Roma situation in all areas of life remains one of the main priorities of the Government of the Slovak Republic. In January 2012, the Government of the Slovak Republic adopted the *Strategy of the Slovak Republic for the Integration of Roma up to 2020* as a complex document reflecting the need to address the challenges related to the social integration of Roma communities. The revised national action plans for the Decade of Roma Inclusion 2005 - 2015 became a part of it.

The Strategy and its action plans form the basis of national integration policies for education, employment, housing, health, financial inclusion as well as a basis for activities in horizontal areas underlying the successful execution of such policies, such as fight against discrimination, racism, intolerance, promoting a positive Roma minority perception, strengthening the Roma minority position, execution of social investments and social cohesion measures, reduction of poverty, collection of information and execution of monitoring and evaluating processes of state policy efficiency. At the same time, the task of the strategy is to ensure the best possible use and transparent allocation of all available financial resources including resources from the European Solidarity Fund, to ensure the Roma integration process.

The Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities acts as a coordinator for the implementation of the strategy and is primarily responsible for the monitoring of its implementation at the level of particular policies, programs and projects. Its specific implementation is provided via the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities, ministries, other state administration bodies and legal entities.

The implementation of the strategy has already yielded several projects with a specific positive influence on the marginalised Roma communities, namely Social Field Work Project, Assistant Teacher Project or Community Centres Project.

The integral part of the strategy is to monitor and evaluate the implementation of the individual measures. In February 2014, the Office of the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for the Roma Communities prepared the Monitoring Report for Fulfilment of the Strategy for 2012 and 2013, which was subsequently submitted to the session of the Government of the Slovak Republic.

In the area of data collection the Slovak Republic has taken appropriate actions to obtain comprehensive data from all sectors of the state administration. From 2010 to 2015, an extensive research project has been performed focused on the statistical monitoring of the living conditions of the marginalised Roma communities in Slovakia in a time perspective. One of the outcomes of the research is a standardisation of selected data monitoring within Slovakia's official statistics.

- Culture

The Slovak Republic perceives protection of cultural rights of people endangered by discrimination as one of the fundamental conditions to maintain the society coherent. Therefore, the measures are being executed to prevent the emergence of permanent restrictions or risks of exclusion to any group of citizens from full participation in cultural and social life. The Ministry of Culture of the Slovak Republic established a stable financial mechanism - *The Culture of Disadvantaged Groups of Citizens* grant program to support cultural activities focused on the prevention and elimination of any form of violence, intolerance and discrimination and to support tolerance and intercultural dialogue. The program is focused on fulfilling the cultural needs of people (mainly children and women) from the marginalised Roma communities, migrants and LGBTI persons. Approximately EUR 300,000 is allocated within the scheme every year.

Culture of Disadvantaged Groups of Citizens Grant Program (number of supported projects)								
year	·	200	200	200	201	201	201	201
		7	8	9	0	1	2	3
number	of							
supported		43	53	87	89	84	117	117
projects								

Education

In Slovakia, the principle of equal treatment in the field of education is being fully applied. Since 2002, a position of assistant teacher has been established and at the same time, an exemption from the legally required education for such a position was granted until the end of 2010. Currently, the requirements for education of the assistants are stipulated by the Act on Pedagogical Employees and Specialist Employees³, alternating the university or full secondary education. The Slovak Republic does not identify itself with the statement that the stated qualification lowers the chances for the Roma minority applicants. The statement suggests that applicants of Roma origins are not able to achieve the required qualification. The Slovak Republic is of the opinion that the relevant qualification for teachers forms an essential part of the success of students. The high-quality teacher and other/further educational employee (e.g. assistant) are the most important elements in education.

The grants for food and school supplies are provided as part of the Social System of the Slovak Republic by the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family of the Slovak Republic. However, the provision is not bound to ethnic origin, behaviour of students

³ Article 7, Section 2, Subsection b) of the Act No. 317/2009 Coll. on Pedagogical Employees and Specialist Employees and on Amendment and Supplement of Certain Acts

or school attendance, nor there are plans to do so in the future. The Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic funds travel expenses to every student of a primary school in case there is no primary school established in the municipality where the student has a residence and the student attends a primary school in another municipality within the same school district⁴.

- Health care

Regarding health care, there is a constitutionally protected principle of equal treatment in the Slovak Republic, in accordance with the Health Care Act⁵. Since October 2013, there has been the "Healthy Communities" project running in Slovakia, financially supported from grants intended for social and cultural needs and solutions of the unfavourable situation of the Roma community. The financial grant to support the project is planned until 30 June 2014 with the possibility of a further extension until October 2014. In future, it is planned to develop the National Programme for the Support of Roma Community Health. It should be financially supported from the EU structural funds. The project finances the field activities of 108 health education assistants and 12 regional field coordinators in segregated and separated Roma settlements. In the period between 1 January and 30 June 2014, the number of locations should increase to 144 with 144 health assistants and 16 coordinators. Educational activities are performed regularly for all employees, not only by means of preparation and training of new employees, but also inspection, supervision and motivation.

Specifically, in the field and sexual and reproductive health, one of the partial goals of the Strategy of the Slovak Republic for Integration of Roma up to 2020 is to increase awareness regarding education on parenthood, reproductive health, motherhood and childcare as well as perform tutorial, complex, non-stereotype activities focused on increasing awareness on sexual and reproductive behaviour for women and men from the marginalised Roma communities (including the campaign to increase and improve awareness on using modern types of contraception). In the area of health care, appropriate attention is paid to the integration of the marginalised Roma communities by increasing the awareness of a healthy lifestyle, support the use of existing preventive health services or expanding the programme of community workers in the area of health education via health education mediators. The goal of the strategy is to ensure non-discriminative, high-quality and unrestrained access for female and male members of the marginalised Roma communities to modern contraception methods as well as services of sexual and reproductive health based on voluntariness and principles of informed decisionmaking and consent.

In 2013, within the preparation of the "Healthy Communities" project, the Office of the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for the Roma Communities participated in the education of health education assistants. Within the ongoing project, approved for the period between January and June 2014, education of the health education assistants is provided by the grant recipient, who also is a health education assistants' employer. One of the educational topics also is a sexual and reproductive health within the marginalised Roma communities. After taking

⁴ Article 8 of the Act No. 596/2003 on State Administration in Education and School Self-Governing Bodies and on Amendment and Supplement of Certain Acts, as later amended, Article 4a, Section 2, Subsection a) of the Act No. 597/2003 on Financing of Primary Schools, Secondary Schools and School Facilities as later amended and Directive No. 9/2009-R stipulating the procedure for reimbursement of expenses for transport of students of primary and secondary school for students with specific pedagogical and educational needs, as later amended

⁵ Act No. 576/2004 Coll. on Health Care, Health-care Related Services and on Amendment and Supplement of Certain Acts, as later amended

part in the education, the assistants are ready to offer counselling as well as education in this area.

- Refugees and asylum seekers and other non-nationals (paragraphs 105-115)

Integration Policy of the Slovak Republic, approved by the Government of the Slovak Republic on 29 January 2014, is currently the key strategic document in the area of integration of foreigners. The Integration Policy is a systematic framework of policies focused on providing the execution of measures to make the process of integration of foreigners more effective. Effective integration of foreigners enables society to use the potential of foreigners in providing benefits to society. At the same time, it has a preventive role when it comes to prevention of risks from economically, socially and a culturally divided society, as well as the formation of enclosed and excluded migrant communities. The emphasis is put on raising awareness regarding the life of foreigners in Slovakia and ways of protection against discrimination, racism and xenophobia. At the same time, emphasis at regional and local level is used since the local authorities assist with the integration of foreigners and form social coherence between various communities and a majority society.

The elaboration of objectives and concrete measures of the Integration Policy within individual action plans shall be provided by particular ministries in order to reflect for the actual needs of the target group.

II. TOPICS SPECIFIC TO SLOVAKIA

1. Interim follow-up recommendations for the fourth cycle

- Functioning of the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights (paragraphs 116 - 120)

The Slovak National Centre for Human Rights was established as the National Human Rights Institution (NHRI) in order to fulfil competences in the area of human rights. Until March 2012, it had a B status accreditation in accordance with the Paris Principles. In 2013, it submitted an application for a new accreditation. The Centre was granted B status accreditation by the decision of the ICC Sub-Committee on Accreditation, which was confirmed by the final decision of the ICC Bureau on 23 May 2014.

The Slovak Republic will continue to work on the amendment Act on the Slovak National Centre for Human Rights with the aim to create the NHRI in full compliance with the Paris Principles. Relevant national authorities and civil society representatives currently discuss the future structure of the Administrative Board and the appointment of the NHRI's Executive Director by selection procedure.

- Segregation of Roma children in education (paragraphs 125 - 132)

The Government of the Slovak Republic, specifically the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic in cooperation with the Office of the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities, is specifically focused in its activities on the prevention of discrimination and segregation of Roma children by using several measures. It provides guidance to the centres of pedagogic and psychological counselling and prevention when assessing the school capabilities of children from a socially disadvantaged environment and children when comes to placing such into primary (http://www.minedu.sk/data/files/2986_usmernenie.pdf).

By the financing system, the Ministry encourages primary schools to include students with special needs while taking into account increased costs for their education, designated in the state education program. It finances projects focused on the inclusion in nursery schools and primary schools via calls for development projects from the national budget as well as the European Social Fund. Since April 2014, the "PRINED - Project of Inclusive Education" has been undertaken. The goal is to support the all-day educational system focused on decreasing the number of children included into the special schools/special classes in primary schools and for the improvement of teacher's work by providing an auxiliary professional personnel.

Currently, the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic, in cooperation with other ministries as well as the Office of the Plenipotentiary of the Government of the Slovak Republic for Roma Communities, are intensely working on the possibility to provide the same access to education in municipalities with a high concentration of students from the marginalised Roma communities, more specifically, building the modular schools in locations with a two-shift operation. The emphasis is put on decreasing the number of such students in special primary schools/special classrooms of primary schools by creating capacities in a primary school. In 2013, 5 modular schools were built for EUR 1,000,000 and in 2014, there are 9 projects of schools having started so far, with a total sum of EUR 1,920,000.